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The Wolseley group is the world’s largest specialist trade 
distributor of heating and plumbing products.

We have grown both organically and by acquisition. We have
extended our markets geographically and expanded our range 
of products.

And we have continued to drive our national and local brand
superiority throughout Europe and North America.
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plumbing products, building materials, lumber products, pipes,
valves and fittings.

Attention to detail has played an important part in our consistent
success over five years. We focus on local markets, providing all our
customers, regardless of size, with the guaranteed professional
delivery and superior customer service they have come to expect.
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ALASKA

HAWAIIAN ISLANDS

PUERTO RICO

INTERNATIONAL
DISTRIBUTION
WITH LOCAL REACH

EUROPE
1615 BRANCHES

£2.4 BILLION TURNOVER

Europe’s No.1 professional plumbing 
and heating distributor 
to the trade

NORTH AMERICA
1131 BRANCHES

£4.8 BILLION TURNOVER

USA’s No. 1 professional plumbing and
heating supply house and No. 1 distributor

of lumber and value added products to 
the professional contractor
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A SOLID 
BASIS FOR
STEADY GROWTH

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Although a challenging year,
the group reports record 
operating profits for the 
fifth consecutive year.

Another record year

I am delighted that the group is able

to report record operating profits for

the fifth consecutive year.The last year

has been one of great challenge for all

of us, but management and employees

throughout the group have come

through with flying colours.The Chief

Executive’s and Finance Director’s

reviews, together with the review 

of operations, set out in more detail

the principal features of Wolseley’s

encouraging performance over the 

last financial year. However, the

highlights for me are good sales 

and profit growth in each of our 

three distribution divisions and 

strong operating cash flow.

One of the most satisfying aspects of

this year has been the outperformance

of our principal operating companies

compared to the markets in which

they operate. We are seeing increasing

benefits from the focused distribution

group we have developed, following 

the disposal of the remaining

manufacturing businesses.

A further feature of the last 

year, which underlines the group’s

commitment to continually moving

forward on an already outstanding 

record, was the listing of our shares

on the New York Stock Exchange on

31 May 2001.This was a memorable

day for us on which Richard Grasso,

the Chairman of the New York Stock

Exchange, played an important part.

The welcome we received in New York

makes us even sadder at the tragic

events of 11 September 2001.

The listing will have important

benefits for our employees in terms of

facilitating share ownership through

stock option plans or direct purchases.

It should also help us to raise the

profile of the group as part of our

programme of enhanced investor

communication.

Dividends

In line with the strong financial

performance of the group and its

confidence in the future, the board 

is recommending a final dividend of

12.35 pence (2000: 11.225 pence)

per share, an increase of 10.0%.

With the interim dividend of 4.55

pence already paid, total dividends 

for the year will amount to 16.90

pence per share, an increase of 

10.1% over dividends declared 

in respect of last year.

The dividend reinvestment plan will

continue to be available to shareholders.

Share price

Our share price has had a ‘roller-coaster’

ride over the last year driven by stock

market volatility and events often

outside our control. We remain mindful

of the needs of our shareholders to

produce consistent, profitable growth

and returns in excess of the cost of

capital which combine to enhance

shareholder value. Our recent re-entry

into the FTSE 100 is particularly

pleasing and testimony to the success

of our strategy.

Employees

The board joins with me in thanking

all of our employees throughout the 

11 countries in which we operate for

the contribution they have made to

produce these record results. I am

continually impressed by the focus 

and determination of our people to

deliver, whatever the difficulties in 

the marketplace.

The board

In May, I was delighted to be able to

announce the appointment of Charles

Banks as the group’s new Chief

Executive, following an extensive 

and rigorous search. Charles has an

impressive track record at Ferguson

and is already ably demonstrating 

that his leadership qualities will be

deployed effectively for the benefit 

of the Wolseley group.

At the same time as Charles’

appointment was announced, I was

pleased to announce the appointment

of Chip Hornsby to the Wolseley plc

board. Chip is responsible for our 

US plumbing operations and I know

he will do a great job in building on 

the strong position he inherited 

from Charles, as Chief Executive 

of Ferguson Enterprises Inc.

Jake Thomas retired from the board

on 31 July 2001, having attained 

his normal retirement age. Jake has

played a key role in the development

of our market leading US Plumbing

Supplies and Building Materials

businesses. My board colleagues 

and I are indebted to him for his

outstanding achievements over 

thirty years with Wolseley companies,

and we wish him a long and happy

retirement.

I am particularly grateful to my board

colleagues for their unstinting support

whilst I took on the Executive

Chairman role, following John Young’s

departure through illness in June

2000.The results we have produced

together clearly demonstrate the

quality and strength of the executive

management team.

The strategic review conducted by the

new Chief Executive, Charles Banks,

has underlined the group’s strong

prospects for growth.The group’s 

skill base, coupled with its scale and

geographical diversity means that it is

well positioned for future growth and

industry consolidation. We continue to

expect our businesses to outperform 

in each of our major markets over 

the next financial year.

Richard Ireland

CHAIRMAN

Wolseley 5
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

We’ve expanded both our
geographical presence and our
product ranges to consolidate
our competitive advantage.

IT’S BEEN AN
EVENTFUL
YEAR

* Throughout this document trading profit is defined 

as operating profit before exceptional items and

goodwill amortisation.

TRADING*

PROFIT
£414.2m
(UP 7.4%)

GROUP
SALES
£7.2bn
(UP12.4%)

I am pleased to be able to report an

excellent set of results in my first year

since taking over as Chief Executive 

in May 2001. All of our continuing

operations, the three distribution

divisions, produced strong growth

despite a more difficult business

environment in the second half, both 

in the USA and continental Europe.

Group sales increased by 12.4%,

compared to last year, from £6,403

million to £7,195 million. Operating

profit increased by 6.2% from £373.2

million to £396.4 million.The increase

in profit before tax (before exceptionals

and goodwill amortisation) was 6.0%

from £357.4 million to £379.0 million.

Sales and trading profits on continuing

activities (after eliminating the effects

of the disposal of the remainder of the

manufacturing division) increased by

16.9% and 11.9%, respectively.

Currency translation benefited sales

and profits of these activities by 

5.8% and 5.6%, respectively.
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Business expansion

A total of 25 acquisitions were

completed during the year for an

aggregate consideration, including

debt, of £399.6 million.

The most significant acquisition was

that of the Westburne Group which

was completed on 1 July 2001, for 

an estimated consideration of C$550

million (£255 million). Westburne

operates from 198 locations in

Canada and 99 in the USA, and 

is involved in the distribution of

plumbing, waterworks, refrigeration

products and industrial supplies.

In Canada, Westburne occupies the

number two position with a market

share of approximately 19%.

The Canadian business will be

expanded by a combination of bolt-on

acquisitions, branch openings and

product diversification. In the 

USA, Westburne’s operations will be

integrated into the group’s existing 

US plumbing operations over the next

two years, involving estimated one-off

costs of £7 million.The integration

will generate synergies and cost savings,

as well as additional focus on growing

Westburne’s US business.

A further £19 million was spent 

on acquisitions in US plumbing and

heating, including further expansion 

of the fire protection business,

which is a growing part of 

Ferguson’s business.

A total of £73.3 million was invested

in the acquisition of seven US building

materials distribution businesses.

These acquisitions are in line with

Carolina’s strategy of increased

geographic diversity, to widen exposure

to different housing markets and to

expand its value added capability in

terms of fabrication, millwork and

component assembly. Carolina now 

has four stand-alone millwork plants,

38 component facilities and operates

in 24 states.

A total of £52.1 million was spent 

on eight acquisitions in the European

distribution division, five of which

were in the UK.The £22 million

acquisition of Nationwide Refrigeration

Supplies helped to establish Wolseley

Centers as a leader in the growing 

UK air conditioning market and the

refrigeration market.The other UK

acquisitions were all in the heavyside

division and further expanded Builder

Center’s geographic coverage and

specialist timber offering.

Branch numbers increased by 502

(22.4%) to a total of 2,746 at 31

July 2001. 180 new branches were

opened during the year.

Further investment in distribution

centres and IT in the USA was

reflected in the capital expenditure 

of £108.8 million for the year.

Strategic development

The strategic direction of the Wolseley

group will continue to be built on the

solid foundations that have produced 

a strong track record to date,

underpinned by financial strength 

as well as the successful combination

of acquisitions and organic expansion.

There will be an enhanced focus on

providing leadership from the corporate

centre, supported by management

initiatives in a number of areas to

increase the opportunities for growth.

The group strategy will remain focused

on expansion through a combination

of organic growth and acquisition in

existing and new distribution markets.

Increasing emphasis will be placed 

on leveraging the group’s unique

international spread of businesses 

and scale of operations.

Wolseley will continue to seek out 

new opportunities to attain industry

leadership in each market in which it

operates.The objective will be to

produce consistent profitable growth,

earning a return on capital well in

excess of the group’s cost of capital.

Wolseley’s operating strategy is to

provide for customer needs in local

markets and foster entrepreneurial 

Availability and speed of
access to stock, friendly
support over the trade
counter and a fast, efficient
out of hours call centre all
contribute to an enhanced
level of service.

Organic growth has once 
again been complemented by
acquisitions in our key markets.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW
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skills amongst our local employees,

whilst leveraging the procurement 

and cost benefits of a major

international group.

We have begun to start the integration

of our US plumbing business by

bringing together Familian Northwest

and Westburne into the Ferguson

Group, thereby creating one national

US plumbing business. When complete,

the network of branches will bring

greater efficiencies to the benefit of

our customers. Also in the US, a one

brand approach is being developed in

the building materials company, whilst

in Europe, a new integrated structure

is in the process of being created.

This will allow us to manage those

businesses on a more cohesive basis

and to achieve greater synergies

across the European operations.

A greater investment in people is

underway, with several new corporate

appointments in place to enhance and

strengthen the group’s management

resources and begin to create the next

generation of leaders.This process is

already being complemented by new

management development and training

programmes, designed to ensure that

our internal talent is constantly

prepared to take on new challenges 

as the group grows.

Following the disposal of our

manufacturing businesses, we will

remain committed to our core

strengths as a specialist distributor 

of products to the construction and

industrial markets. By focusing on the

supply chain management, the group

will be able to enhance delivery to

customers, continue to be a better and

more reliable supplier and provide

additional value added services.

Outlook

Recent terrorist events in the 

USA have inevitably increased 

the uncertainty as to how world

economies, particularly the USA,

will perform. It is likely to be some

time before the true measure of

business activity levels and consumer

confidence can be accurately assessed.

The market in continental Europe,

which accounts for 11% of the

group’s sales, softened in the last

quarter of the group’s financial year

and business conditions are unlikely to

rebound in the near term. On a more

positive note, in the UK, which

accounts for 22% of the group’s

sales, prospects remain encouraging.

Providing consumer and business

confidence holds up, we expect the

housing and construction market to

retain its positive momentum,

underpinned by public sector spending.

We will continue with our branch

development and logistics investment

programme to expand our market share.

The short term prospects in North

America, which accounts for 67% of

group sales, are clearly more difficult

to call. A feature of the last year was

the resilience of the US housing

market.The future direction of this

market will, once again, depend upon

the strength of consumer spending and

confidence. As in the past, the regional

trading pattern across the USA will be

variable. We do not expect any

significant pick up in activity levels

until 2002, when the full force of

interest rate reductions should have

taken effect.

Charles A Banks

GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

Our continuing focus on supply
chain management will enhance 
delivery, reliability and 
value added service.

From left to right

Value added pre-cut materials
are increasingly significant 
in allowing our customers to
reduce their on-site labour
requirements.

Pipeline Center recently opened
its first satellite branch.This
two man operation serves as a
pick-up point and source of fast
moving maintenance items.

Ferguson’s ProVisions builder
program concept was piloted 
in Richmond, Virginia where an
expanded product offering gives
builders and their clients a 
one-stop shopping opportunity.



From left to right

Whether Builder, Plumb,
Pipeline, Control or Drainage,
all Wolseley Centers hold a 
wide range of fast moving stock.

Builder Centers local delivery
service utilises purpose
designed vehicles.

In France, Brossette opened 
a further 20 Express satellite
branches.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS Europe

REGIONAL STRENGTH
LOCAL FLEXIBILITY
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European Distribution

The division produced 33.0% (2000:

34.3%) of the group’s turnover and

38.2% (2000: 37.7%) of the group’s

trading profit.

Sales for the division increased by

8.0%, including an organic increase 

of 5.7%.Trading profits increased by

8.9% from £145.3 million to £158.2

million.The resulting trading margin

was higher at 6.7% (2000: 6.6%) 

of sales.

UK

Wolseley Centers in the UK produced

another outstanding performance, with

an increase in sales of 12.6% to over

£1.5 billion, including organic growth 

of over 8%. Each of the four divisions

of Wolseley Centers achieved double

digit increases in profits and gained

market share.Trading profit for

Wolseley Centers increased by 13.9%

to over £115 million.The trading

margin was slightly higher at 7.5%.

In lightside, Plumb Center and Drainage

Center opened 52 new branches,

including four for Heatmerchants in

Ireland. Organic growth in lightside 

at over 13% was well ahead of the

market according to statistics from

the Builders Merchant Federation.

The move from Dunstable to the new

feeder at Marston Gate, Bedfordshire,

was successfully completed in August

and a further new feeder at Melmerby,

North Yorkshire, replacing Ripon,

is scheduled for completion early 

next year.

In heavyside, Builder Center recovered

strongly in the second half from the

effect of the wet weather over the

winter. Heavyside grew sales by over

10% and increased its trading margin

producing a 17% increase in trading

profits.The 20% growth in hire sales

reflects the addition of 17 new hire

branches during the year with a further

22 planned for next year. Heavyside’s

Timber Center offering continues to

expand with 16 new branches added,

including 12 from the acquisition of

RK Timber in May.

The increase in trading profits in the

Commercial and Industrial division

was even more marked at 19.5%,

reflecting an enhanced trading margin

of over 6%. Controls Center completed

another record year driven by growth

of 28% in air conditioning sales and

the successful opening of implants

within existing Pipeline branches.

The Spares division recorded a sales

increase of 12.6% while maintaining

its trading margin.The creation of a

new, all-picture spare parts catalogue

for domestic and commercial heating

and commercial catering spares is an

industry first. A sales office was opened

in Holland and further development 

is planned in continental Europe.
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Continental Europe

In continental Europe, market

conditions for the group’s plumbing

and heating companies deteriorated in

the final quarter of the financial year 

in response to slowing economies.

In France, Brossette achieved 1%

sales growth over the prior year’s

figures which were boosted by the 

end of a sales incentive programme

and the benefits of a reduction in the

rate of VAT on sales to contractors.

The heating market was weaker due 

to the warmer weather and price

deflation. Sales of other product

segments showed good volume growth.

As the market softened, the pressure

on prices increased and Brossette’s

added value percentage ended marginally

down on last year.

Trading profit was also slightly 

down.There were 20 new branches

opened during the year.

Against the background of a

deteriorating market, ÖAG in Austria

continued its recent trend of progress,

achieving an increase in sales of over

3% and an increase in profits of 

more than 22%. As with Brossette,

the heating market was weaker but

ÖAG benefited from stronger industrial

and DIY sectors and from the cost

reduction programme instituted in 

the prior year. Development of the

businesses in Hungary and the Czech

Republic, which now account for over

11% of ÖAG group sales, continued

with the opening of seven new branches.

In Italy, Manzardo recorded 4% 

sales growth but profits dropped back

slightly with additional costs due to

the opening of two new ‘express’ store

locations.These should move into profit

over the next year. A further seven

locations are planned for 2002.

A delay in the announcement by the

government of new tax incentives for

repairs and refurbishment work, had

an impact on activity levels in the

final quarter of the financial year.

CFM in Luxembourg made progress 

in both sales and profits.

From left to right

Commercial and industrial
markets are well served through
the extensive range of stock
carried by Pipeline and 
Controls Centers.

Wolseley Centers new 220,000
sq. ft. distribution centre at
Marston Gate, Buckinghamshire.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS Europe

Wolseley Centers in the UK produced 
another outstanding performance.
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS North America
From left to right

Conveyor belts are utilised for the picking of
small items in Ferguson’s 423,000 sq. ft.
Front Royal distribution center.

Many Ferguson showrooms stock a full 
range of major kitchen appliances including
cookers, refrigerators and washer-dryers.

Manufacturing facilities like this
pharmaceutical plant, depend on the
expertise of Ferguson associates for 
the pipe, valves and fittings that 
comprise their sophisticated systems.

ACCELERATING THE
PACE OF EXPANSION

North American 
Plumbing & Heating

The division produced 41.7% (2000:

39.8%) of the group’s turnover and

37.5% (2000: 35.2%) of the group’s

trading profit.

Sales for the division increased by

17.6% from £2,551 million to

£3,000 million, including a one month

contribution of £59 million from the

Westburne acquisition in the USA 

and Canada. Acquisitions, including

Westburne, accounted for £105

million of the increase in sales, and

exchange translation for a further

£242 million.The rate of organic

growth was lower in the second half

than the first half as the US economy

slowed. For the year as a whole the

organic increase in sales was 3.7%,

which was well in excess of the market.

Trading profits for the division

increased by 14.4% from £135.9

million to £155.5 million, including 

a contribution of £3.0 million from

Westburne after charging one-off

costs of £0.2 million relating to the

integration of Westburne’s US

operations into Wolseley’s other 

US plumbing and heating activities.

Other identified one-off costs of

approximately £7.0 million relating 

to the integration of Westburne are

likely to be charged against earnings

in 2001/2 in accordance with FRS

12.The one-month contribution 

from Westburne was in excess of

expectations at the time of the

acquisition.The trading margin 

of the division reduced marginally.

Ferguson’s markets exhibited a mixed

pattern with trading strongest in the 

west coast of the USA and weakest 

in the mid-west. Demand weakened in

the second half in the commercial and

industrial sector but remained strong

throughout in waterworks, upon which

increasing emphasis is being placed.

Ferguson’s sales growth for the 

year as a whole was 5.3%. Despite

headcount reductions in response to

weakening market conditions, trading

profit growth was slightly lower.

Sales and profit growth at 

Familian Northwest was similar 

to Ferguson. Familian Northwest

added a net 6 branches to increase 

its market penetration.

Ferguson and Familian Northwest

have now completed their current

plans for the roll-out of distribution

centres.These centres continue to

improve customer service and give

increased reliability of delivery to

branches. Benefits have been achieved

during the year from improved

inventory turns and the easing of

duplicated inventory holdings in

branches and distribution centres,

which is necessary during the early

phases of establishing a distribution

centre infrastructure.This infrastructure,

which is unique in the industry in the

USA will be used, where appropriate,

for Westburne’s US operations and

should help to enhance the added value

percentage for the acquired business.

The need for any additional distribution

centres in the future will be assessed

by reference to market penetration

and volumes in other regions.
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US Building Materials
Distribution

The division produced 24.6% 

(2000: 21.3%) of the group’s

turnover and 23.4% (2000: 22.2%)

of the group’s trading profit.

Sales for the division increased 

by 29.9% from £1,363 million 

to £1,770 million. Approximately 

£409 million of the increase arose

from acquisitions in line with the

strategy of expanding the geographic

and product diversity of the business.

These acquisitions helped consolidate

Carolina’s position as the clear market

leader in the distribution of building

materials to professional contractors

across the USA. A benefit to sales of

£129 million arose from exchange

translation. Deflation in lumber, panels

and gypsum reduced sales revenues 

by approximately £170 million and

accounted for the organic decline in

sales revenues. Organic sales volumes

were up by approximately 1%.The

housing market remained resilient

throughout the year at an annual 

rate of around 1.6 million starts.

Trading profits for the division increased

by 13.2% from £85.5 million to £96.8

million.The decline in the trading

margin from 6.3% to 5.5% reflected

the significant price deflation of the

products referred to above.

The trend in the trading margin

improved in the second half as lumber

prices recovered from a seven year

low in January 2001.The average

lumber price for the year as a whole

was 16.2% below that of the previous

financial year. However, the lumber

price at 31 July 2001 was 6.6%

higher than 31 July 2000. As expected

in times of commodity price deflation,

Carolina’s added value percentage

increased.The gross margin achieved

was nearly 2% higher than the prior

year, also reflecting more sales of

value added products.

Carolina has started to change the

trading names it uses nationally across

the USA to Stock Building Supply.

This is likely to take two to three

years to complete.This new national

identity together with the completion

of the implementation of the NX Trend

computer system will deliver additional

benefits to the business in terms of

enhanced customer service, greater

brand recognition, more efficient

management of working capital,

improved buying opportunities 

and reduced costs. Further benefits

are likely to arise from increasing 

co-operation between Carolina 

and the US Plumbing and Heating

operations in servicing major home

building customers requiring a range

of products and services.

A new national identity, backed by group systems
investment will achieve greater brand recognition 
and enhanced customer service.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS North America From left to right

A new combined lumberyard, truss and panel
facility in Dayton, Ohio, part of Carolina’s
focused strategy to serve the professional
housebuilder and contractor.

Carolina’s geographic, product range and
service superiority is extended through
acquisition in the attractive Texas market.
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United Kingdom

Wolseley Centers 
A leading plumbing & builders merchant,
selling products in the central heating,
plumbing, bathroom, shower, drainage,
construction, repair and maintenance sectors.

Plumb Center
The UK’s leading plumbers merchant with 
440 branches covering the country.

Builder Center
A national network of 229 branches supplying a
wide range of building materials and equipment.

Hire Center
The UK tool hire division of Builder Center with
81 branches.

Pipeline Center
Offers a range of specialist stock and expertise
in 99 UK locations.

Controls Center
Operates from 67 branches throughout the
country.

Drainage Center
Serves the professional trade from 62 branches.

HRPC
Europe’s largest specialist supplier of heating
appliance spare parts operating from 118
branches.

NRS
The UK’s largest wholesaler and distributor of
commercial refrigeration and air conditioning
products.

France

Brossette 
The country’s largest distributor of plumbing
and heating equipment, operating from 380
branches nationwide.

Austria
ÖAG 
A leading supplier of plumbing and heating
products with 56 branches.

Republic of Ireland
Heatmerchants, Tubs and Tiles 
Trade supplier of general heating and plumbing
products from 27 branches nationally.

Italy
Manzardo 
Distributor of plumbing and heating supplies 
from 9 outlets based in the north of the country.

Luxembourg
CFM
A leading distributor of plumbing and heating
supplies in its market.

Denmark
Electro-Oil
Distributor of burners and spare parts.

Czech Republic
Cesaro 
A major supplier of plumbing and heating
products, operating from 19 branches.

Hungary

Mart
The country’s leading distributor of plumbing
and heating equipment with 21 branches
nationwide.

North America
Ferguson Enterprises 
The leading wholesale distributor of plumbing,
heating and piping products to the professional
industry serving the USA, coast to coast and
border to border, from 591 branches.

Familian Northwest 
The largest supplier of pipes, valves, pumps and
fittings in the north-western states of the USA
with 122 outlets.

Carolina Holdings 
The largest distributor to its market in the USA.
Carolina supplies lumber, building materials and
pre-assembled components to the house builder
and professional contractor from 220 locations.

Westburne Wolseley
Canada’s second largest plumbing and
waterworks supplier, operating from 198
branches. Also distributes industrial supplies.

BRANDS
BUILD
VALUE



GOING FROM
STRENGTH 
TO STRENGTH

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Group results

Group operating profit before the
exceptional loss on disposal and goodwill
amortisation was £414.2 million.
This represents an increase of £28.5
million (7.4%) from the previous 
year’s comparable trading profit of 
£385.7 million.

Goodwill amortisation increased from
£12.5 million in the prior year to £17.8
million due to the acquisition spend of 
approximately £400 million mostly in 
the latter part of the year.

An exceptional loss of £70.0 million 
arose on the disposal of the remaining
businesses in the manufacturing division.
The constituent parts of the loss are
shown in note 24 to the accounts.

The interest charge increased from £28.3
million to £35.2 million reflecting further
substantial investment in the development
of the group through acquisitions, notably
Westburne, and other capital expenditure,
partially offset by the benefits of lower
interest rates and tight control over
working capital. Net interest receivable 
on construction loans amounted to 
£6.7 million (2000: £6.1 million).
The pre-exceptional items interest cover 
is just over 11 times (2000: 13 times).

Before exceptionals and goodwill
amortisation, profit before tax 
increased by 6.0% from £357.4 million 
to £379.0 million. After taking these 
into account, profit before tax was slightly
lower at £291.2 million compared to
£302.3 million.

Currency translation benefited group 
sales and operating profits by £361.1
million (5.6%) and £20.7 million 
(5.4%), respectively.

The benefits from effective tax planning
measures have resulted in a further
reduction in the group’s effective tax 
rate* from 32.8% to 28%. It is expected
that this rate will be held for at least 
the next two financial years, provided 
the geographical contributions to group
profits remain broadly the same and 
there are no significant changes to tax
rates in individual territories.

Earnings per share

Before exceptionals and goodwill
amortisation, earnings per share 
increased by 13.5% from 41.79 pence 
to 47.43 pence.Total (FRS 3) earnings
per share were slightly lower, reflecting 
the exceptional loss on disposal of the 

remaining manufacturing operations,
partly mitigated by the lower tax rate.
The average number of shares in issue
during the year was 575.3 million 
(2000: 574.3 million).

Dividends

The cost of dividends paid and proposed 
in respect of the financial year is £97.4
million (2000: £88.3 million). Based on
pre-exceptional earnings, the cover is 2.6
times, unchanged from the previous year.

Segmental analysis

Following the disposal of the group’s
manufacturing operations, the directors
have reviewed the reportable segments of
the group’s businesses and have adopted 
a new form of segmental disclosure in note
1 to these accounts. Comparative figures
have been restated accordingly.
The directors believe that this new form 
of disclosure is likely to be more helpful 
in gaining an understanding of the group’s
principal business streams and in
interpreting the financial information 
in relation thereto.

Acquisitions

A total of 25 acquisitions were completed
during the year for a combined
consideration of £399.6 million including
net debt acquired. All of this amount was
funded with debt.

The acquisitions within each division,
together with their likely contribution to
turnover, may be summarised as follows:

Full year 
contribution

Consideration to turnover

Division £m £m

European 
Distribution 52 121

North American 
Plumbing &Heating 
Distribution 274 687

US Building 
Materials Distribution 74 167

400 975

Financial position

Shareholders’ funds increased by £187.5
million from £1,308.9 million (as previously
reported) to £1,496.4 million.The net
increase comprised the following elements:

£m

Retained profits 87.7

Deferred tax accounting
policy change (page 43) 14.3

New share capital subscribed 5.5

Goodwill written back 
on disposals (note 24) 44.4

Exchange translation 35.6
Increase in shareholders’ funds 187.5

The movement of sterling against overseas
currencies, particularly the US dollar,
resulted in a translation difference of
£41.6 million, which increased borrowings
on the balance sheet. After taking account
of this and primarily due to expenditure 
of £400 million on acquisitions, net
borrowings, excluding construction loan
borrowings, increased by approximately
£239 million to £693.7 million giving 
year-end gearing of 46.4% (2000: 34.3%).
Construction loan borrowings relating 
to the group’s US lumber distribution
activities amounted to £215.2 million
(2000: £192.1 million) and are used to fund
secured construction loans receivable of
£215.5 million (2000: £193.0 million).* Defined as ratio of the taxation charge to 

pre-tax profits before goodwill amortisation.
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GROUP SALES
to 31 July 2001*

US Building Materials

European Distribution

North America
Plumbing & Heating

* continuing operations

42% 33%

25%

OPERATING PROFIT
to 31 July 2001*

US Building Materials

European Distribution

North America
Plumbing & Heating

* continuing operations

38% 39%

23%

Cash flow from operating activities increased 
by 32.8% from £390 million to £518 million.
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Cash flow

The cash flow statement in the format
required by FRS 1 is set out on page 42.
A summary of the change in net debt is 
set out below:

2001 2000

£ m £ m

Operating profit 396.4 373.2

Depreciation 85.4 73.9

Goodwill amortisation 17.8 12.5

Decrease/(Increase) 
in working capital 18.4 (69.6)

Net cash flow from 518.0 390.0
operating activities

Acquisitions (400.6) (285.7)

Disposals 13.0 122.7

Purchase of minorities (1.5) –

Shares issued – 
share options 5.5 2.0

Capital expenditure 
(net of disposals) (108.8) (117.0)

New loans and 
finance leases (4.8) (5.8)

Net interest paid (36.9) (24.1)

Tax paid (90.9) (112.6)

Dividends paid (90.8) (81.1)

Exchange difference (41.6) (33.7)
Increase in net debt (239.4) (145.3)

Particular focus on the control of working
capital contributed to a strong cash flow
performance. Cash flow from operating
activities increased by 32.8% from
£390.0 million to £518.0 million.The
average working capital to sales ratio
reduced from 16.4% last year to 16.1%.
Further investment in distribution centres
and IT in the USA is reflected in the
capital expenditure of £108.8 million
(2000: £117.0 million).The net disposal
proceeds of £13 million (2000: £122.7
million) relate to the sale of certain
manufacturing businesses.

Treasury risk management

The group is exposed to market risks
arising from its international operations.
The group has well defined and consistently
applied policies for the management of
foreign exchange and interest rate exposures.
There has been no change since the year
end in the major financial risks faced 
by the group.

The main risks arising from the group’s
financial instruments are interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency
risk.The Treasury Committee of the 
board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they 
are summarised below.These policies 
are regularly reviewed.

The group’s financial instruments, other
than derivatives, comprise borrowings,
cash and liquid resources and various
items, such as trade debtors and trade
creditors that arise directly from its
operations.The group also enters into
derivative transactions (principally 
interest rate swaps and forward foreign
currency contracts).The purpose of such
transactions is to hedge certain interest
rate and currency risks arising from 
the group’s operations and its sources 
of finance.

Details of financial instruments are 
shown in note 33 to the accounts.

Derivatives are also used to a limited
extent to hedge movements in the future
prices of lumber.These options and futures
hedging contracts mature within one year
and all are with organised exchanges.
The number and monetary value of
outstanding contracts at the year end 
were not significant.

The group’s policy is to control credit risk
by only entering into financial instruments
with authorised counterparties after taking
account of their credit rating.

It is, and has been throughout the period
under review, the group’s policy that 
no trading in financial instruments or
speculative transactions be undertaken.

Interest rate risk

The group finances its operations through
a mixture of retained profits and bank 
and other borrowings.The group borrows
in the desired currencies principally at
floating rates of interest, and then uses
interest rate swaps to generate the desired
interest rate profile and to manage 
the group’s exposure to interest rate
fluctuations.The group’s current policy 
is to convert floating to fixed interest
rates, by the use of interest rate swaps 
and forward rate agreements, to hedge 
the interest rate risk on borrowings with a
maturity of one year or more. At the year
end one quarter of the group’s net
borrowings were at fixed rates for one year
or more after taking account of swaps.

The group reviews deposits and borrowings
by currency at treasury committee and
board meetings.The treasury committee
gives prior approval to any variations 
from floating rate arrangements.

Liquidity risk

The group seeks a balance between certainty
of funding and a flexible, cost-effective
borrowings structure.The overall policy is
to ensure that, as a minimum, all projected
net borrowing needs are covered by
committed facilities, supplemented where
appropriate by overdraft facilities.The
borrowings’ profile of the group is set out
in note 18 to the accounts.The principal
source of funds to the group is committed 
bank debt.

During the year, the group successfully
launched three syndicated facilities which
raised a combined total of US$875
million.Two of these syndications were 
still open at the year end and subsequently
a further US$125 million was raised.
The facility with the longest maturity
(2006) was also the largest and as at the
year end this facility had raised US$500
million which was subsequently increased
to US$620 million.Two of the facilities
have maturities greater than two years,
the third was for less than one year at
inception but is extendable to three years
at Wolseley’s option.

In addition the group has a £100 million
committed facility which is undrawn;
a £200 million bank overdraft facility and
a number of other uncommitted facilities
which enable the group to maintain short
term flexibility. All of these mature in less
than one year.

Foreign currency risk

The group has significant overseas
businesses whose revenues are mainly
denominated in the currencies of the
countries in which the operations are
located. Approximately 67% of the
group’s revenues are in US dollars for the
year ended 31 July 2001.The group does
not have significant foreign currency cash
flows arising from transactions. However
those that do arise are generally hedged
with either forward contracts or currency
options.The group does not normally
hedge profit translation exposure since
such hedges have only temporary effect.
Most of the foreign currency earnings
generated by the group’s overseas
operations are reinvested in the business 
to fund growth in those territories.
The group’s policy is maintain the 
majority of its debt in the currencies 
of its operating companies as this hedges
both the net assets and cash flows of 
the group.



FINANCIAL REVIEW With the Chairman, Chief Executive and
Finance Director are Angus MacLennan of
Danske Bank (pictured left of the Chairman)
and Michael Riding of Lloyds TSB (pictured
right), at the signing of the new US dollar
Revolving Credit Facilities.
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Details of average exchange rates used 
in the translation of overseas earnings,
and of year end exchange rates used in 
the translation of overseas balance sheets,
for the principal currencies used by 
the group are shown in note 31 to 
the accounts.

The net effect of currency translation was
to increase turnover by £361.1 million
(5.6%) and to increase trading profit by
£20.7 million (5.4%).These currency
effects reflect a movement of the average
sterling exchange rate against each of the
major currencies with which the group is
involved as follows:

Weakening/(strengthening)
of sterling %

US dollar 8.7

Euro (1.8)

Fair value of financial
instruments

As set out in note 33 to the accounts,
there is no significant difference between
the book value and fair value of financial
instruments as at 31 July 2001.

Market price risk

The group regularly monitors its interest
rate and currency risk by reviewing the
effect on profit before tax over various
periods of a range of possible changes in
interest rates and exchange rates. On the
basis of the group’s analysis it is estimated
that the maximum effect of a rise of one
percentage point in the principal interest
rates to which the group is exposed would
result in an increase in the interest rate
charge of approximately £5.7 million.
Similarly, it is estimated that a strengthening
of sterling by 10% against all the currencies
in which the group does business would
reduce profit before tax for 2001 by
approximately £24 million (6.6%) due 
to currency translation.

Shareholders’ return

We continue to monitor return on capital
including goodwill, throughout the group,
as one of the key measures of business
performance. Return on gross capital
employed (as defined on page 73) is
16.5%, well ahead of the group’s 
weighted average cost of capital.

At the close of business on the date of the
Directors’ Report, the value of an ordinary
share as quoted in the Financial Times 
was 378 pence per share (2000: 300
pence).The market capitalisation of the
group at that date was £2,179 million
(2000: £1,724 million).The total dividend
of 16.90 pence per share in respect of the
2001 financial year gives a yield of 4.5%,
based on the above market value of 
the shares.

Accounting standards

The group’s accounting policies fully
reflect the requirements of the 
Accounting Standards Board (ASB).

Three new Financial Reporting Standards
were issued by the ASB during the
financial year:

FRS 17 (Retirement Benefits)

FRS 18 (Accounting Policies)

FRS 19 (Deferred Taxation)

Under the transitional arrangements
contained within FRS 17, the new
accounting standard for retirement
benefits is being introduced over the 
three years ending 31 July 2003. In the
meantime, the rules set out in SSAP 24

will continue to apply. Note 34 to the
accounts includes the additional
disclosures required by FRS 17 this year.

FRS 18 on accounting policies replaces
SSAP 2. Following the introduction of
FRS 18, the directors have decided to
adopt a revised profit and loss account
format which, they believe, is more
appropriate to the group’s distribution
businesses.This is set out on page 40 
and in note 2.

The group has adopted FRS 19 one year
earlier than necessary.The adoption of
FRS 19 results in a change in the
accounting policy for deferred taxation,
the effect of which is shown in note 5 
to the accounts.

Insurance

The insurance arrangements of the 
group are reviewed annually by the 
audit committee.

The group has a captive insurance
company which is registered and
operational in the Isle of Man.
No policies are written for third parties.
The administration is undertaken by 
a specialist management company.

Going concern

The directors are confident, on the 
basis of current financial projections 
and facilities available, that the company
and the group have adequate resources to
continue in operation for the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the directors continue
to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts.

Steve Webster

GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR



Wolseley 2928 Wolseley

Richard Ireland
CHAIRMAN

Aged 67

First appointed to the board on 
12 December 1975. Mr Ireland was 
Group Finance Director from 1975 to
1994. He became a non-executive director 
in May 1995 and Group Chairman on 
1 August 1996. Mr Ireland is a member 
of the Audit Committee and is Chairman
of the Treasury and Nominations
Committees. He is a non-executive 
director of Schroder UK Growth Fund 
plc and was Chairman of Severn Trent 
Plc from 1994–1998.

Charles A Banks 
GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Aged 60

First appointed to the board on 1 August
1992, Mr Banks was appointed Group
Chief Executive on 3 May 2001. He was
previously Chief Executive of Ferguson
Enterprises and has spent 34 years with
that company.

Jacques-Régis Descours 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, BROSSETTE SA AND
BUILDING DISTRIBUTION SOUTHERN
EUROPE

Aged 53

First appointed to the board on 
1 September 1998. Mr Descours joined
Brossette in 1984 and was appointed 
its Finance Director on 1 January 1992.
He was appointed Deputy Managing
Director of Brossette in November 1994
and Managing Director on 1 February
1997. His responsibilities were extended 
to include the development of the group’s
business in Southern Europe as from 
1 September 1998.

Andrew J Hutton
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, WOLSELEY CENTERS
LTD AND BUILDING DISTRIBUTION
NORTHERN EUROPE

Aged 54

First appointed to the board on 
1 August 1994. He assumed additional
responsibility for building distribution
activities in Northern Europe with effect
from 1 September 1998. Mr Hutton 
has spent most of his working life in the
building materials distribution trade.

Fenton N Hord
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, US BUILDING
MATERIALS DISTRIBUTION

Aged 55

First appointed to the board on 2 October
2000. He joined the group as Chief
Executive of Carolina Holdings Inc in
1987. Prior to then, Mr Hord was
President of Eskimo Pie Corporation,
a subsidiary of Reynolds Metals co.

Claude ‘Chip’ A S Hornsby
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, US PLUMBING AND
HEATING DIVISION

Aged 45

First appointed to the board on 3 May
2001. Responsible for the US Plumbing
and Heating Division which incorporates
Ferguson, Familian Northwest and the 
US businesses of the recently acquired
Westburne. Mr Hornsby has spent 
23 years with Ferguson.

Stephen P Webster
GROUP FINANCE DIRECTOR

Aged 48

Chartered Accountant. First appointed 
to the board on 1 August 1994 as Group
Finance Director designate. Appointed as
Group Finance Director on 9 December
1994. Formerly a partner in Price
Waterhouse. Currently chairman of the
Midlands Industry Group of Finance
Directors.

David L Tucker
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 61

Chartered Accountant. First appointed 
to the board on 24 January 1990. He is 
a member of the Treasury Committee 
and Chairman of the Audit Committee.
Other appointments include Chairman of
Britannic Smaller Companies Trust plc and
Edinburgh UK Tracker Trust plc. He is also
a non-executive Director of Rexam plc.

John W Whybrow
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 53

First appointed to the board on 1 August
1997. He is a member of the Nominations
Committee and Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. Mr Whybrow 
is President and Chief Executive Officer 
of Philips Lighting Holding B.V., based 
in The Netherlands, and a member of the
Board of Management of Royal Philips
Electronics N.V.

John M Allan
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 53

First appointed to the board on 1 June
1999. He is a member of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees. Mr Allan is
currently Chief Executive of Exel plc and 
a non-executive director of PHS Group
Plc. He is a member of the CBI’s
Presidents’ Committee.

Robert M Walker
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 56

First appointed to the board on 
1 July 1999. He is a member of the
Remuneration and Nominations
Committees. Mr Walker is currently 
Group Chief Executive of Severn Trent 
Plc following over 20 years service with
PepsiCo International, culminating as
Division President.
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Other business at the annual general meeting

1 Share capital
Resolution 6 as set out in the notice of meeting seeks your
approval for renewal of the authority given at last year’s annual
general meeting to enable your directors to a limited extent 
to issue equity securities for cash without first offering such
securities to existing shareholders in proportion to their holdings.
The authority being sought is for a maximum nominal value of
£7,204,500 being approximately 5% of the issued share capital
of the company at the date hereof. If approved, the authority will
expire at the earlier of the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the company or 15 months after the forthcoming
annual general meeting. It is not currently the intention of your
directors to issue for cash any part of the unissued share capital
for purposes other than upon the exercise of options granted
under the company’s share option schemes.

2 Purchase of own shares
At the extraordinary general meeting of the company held on
14 April 1989 the company was authorised, subject to certain
limitations, to purchase its own shares on the London Stock
Exchange. At the time it was the stated intention of your
directors that a resolution for the renewal of this authority 
would be proposed at the next and each succeeding annual
general meeting. Resolution 7 as set out in the notice of 
meeting effectively seeks your approval for the renewal of this
authority.The maximum price which may be paid for each share
is an amount equal to 105% of the average of the middle
market quotations for an ordinary share of the company derived
from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for each of
the ten business days immediately preceding the day on which
the ordinary share is purchased.The minimum price will be 25
pence.The power will be limited to 57,636,530 shares being
10% of the total ordinary shares in issue at the date hereof and
will expire at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting
of the company.

No shares have yet been purchased pursuant to this authority.
However, your directors seek renewal of this authority as they
wish to be able to respond promptly should circumstances 
arise in which they consider such a purchase would result in an
increase in earnings per share and would be in the best interests
of the company.

Borrowing powers

The company’s articles of association permit the group to have
borrowings equal to twice the adjusted consolidated capital and
reserves as defined therein. For these purposes certain specified
items, including borrowings for the purpose of the construction loan
programme, are not required to be included in total borrowings.

Creditor payment policy

All group companies are responsible for establishing terms and
conditions of trading with their suppliers. It is the group’s policy
that payments to suppliers are made within agreed terms and,
where applicable, consistent with the CBI Prompt Payers Code.
Copies of this Code can be obtained from the Company 
Secretary at the company’s registered office.

At 31 July 2001 the company had no trade creditors (2000: nil).
The amount of trade creditors for the group as at 31 July 2001
was equivalent to 47 days (2000: 44 days) of trade purchases.

Employment policies

All employees and prospective employees are provided with equal
opportunities for recruitment, career development and promotion.
Applications for employment from disabled persons are given full
and fair consideration. Employees that become disabled are
retained within the business where possible.

Communication with employees is primarily the responsibility of
local management. Copies of the annual report are sent to each
subsidiary to assist in this process.

The company’s intranet provides up to date information on all
significant developments within the group, such as share price
information, acquisitions, and individual trading company news.

There are currently 2,666 participants in the savings related
share option schemes and 3,711 US employees participate in 
the stock appreciation plan.There are 130 participants in the
executive share option schemes.

The group continues to operate on a highly decentralised basis.
This provides the maximum encouragement for the development
of entrepreneurial flair, balanced by a rigorous control framework
exercised by a small head office team. Local managements are
responsible for maintaining high standards of health and safety
and for ensuring that there is appropriate employee involvement
in decision making.

The directors of Wolseley plc present their annual report to the
shareholders, together with the audited consolidated accounts 
of the company and its subsidiaries, for the financial year ended
31 July 2001.

Principal activities

Wolseley plc is a holding company; its subsidiaries are organised
into three divisions which are set out on pages 69 to 70.The principal
activities of the group are the distribution of plumbing and bathroom
materials, central heating equipment and pipes, valves and fittings
within Europe, the USA and Canada. Additionally, in the UK it
distributes heavyside building materials and operates tool hire
centres, whilst in the USA the group distributes timber and other
building materials.

Other matters which may be material for the appreciation of 
the state of the group’s affairs are contained in the Chairman’s
statement on pages 4 to 5, the Chief Executive’s review on 
pages 6 to 11, the operational reviews on pages 12 to 19 and 
the financial review on pages 22 to 27 which should be read 
in conjunction with this report.

Results and dividends

An analysis of turnover and operating profit is given in note 1 to
the accounts on page 45. Group operating profit before exceptionals
and goodwill amortisation increased by 7.4% from £385.7 million
to £414.2 million.The way in which this profit has been dealt
with is shown in the group profit and loss account on page 40.
An interim dividend of 4.55 pence per share (2000: 4.125 pence)
was paid on 31 July 2001.

Your directors recommend a final dividend of 12.35 pence per
share (2000: 11.225 pence) which, with the interim dividend
already paid, will make total dividends for the year of 16.90
pence per share, an increase of 10.1% on the 15.35 pence 
paid in respect of last year. Payment of the recommended final
dividend, if approved at the annual general meeting, will be made
on 31 January 2002 to shareholders registered at the close of
business on 11 January 2002.

The company’s dividend reinvestment plan will continue to be
available to shareholders. Shareholders that do not currently
participate in the plan and wish to do so can obtain an
application form and explanatory booklet from the company’s
registrars, Lloyds TSB Registrars. Contact details for the
registrars are shown on page 76.The latest date for receipt 
of new applications to participate in respect of the 2001 final
dividend is 17 January 2002.

Post balance sheet events

There are no significant post balance sheet events.

Share capital

During the year ended 31 July 2001 the company issued
1,509,313 ordinary shares of 25 pence each. Full details of these
issues including, where appropriate, the amounts subscribed for
new shares are set out in note 20 to the accounts on pages 54
and 55 which also contains details of options granted over
unissued capital.

Acquisitions and disposals

Details of acquisitions and disposals made during the year are
contained in the financial review on page 23 and in notes 23 
and 24 on pages 56, 57 and on page 71.

Future development

It remains your board’s intention to develop the group through
organic growth and by selective acquisitions.

Directors

The present directors of the company are included on pages 28
and 29. Fenton Hord and Claude Hornsby were appointed directors
on 2 October 2000 and 3 May 2001 respectively. James Thomas
resigned as a director on 31 July 2001. All other directors,
as at the date hereof, held office for the whole of the year.

In accordance with the company’s articles of association 
Charles Banks and Jacques Descours retire by rotation at the
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election. As Claude Hornsby was appointed to the board after
the last annual general meeting, he will retire in accordance 
with the company’s articles of association and, being eligible,
offers himself for election.

David Tucker was first appointed to the board on 24 January 1990
and consequently has already served as a director in excess of nine
years. He will, therefore, retire as a director and offers himself for
re-election at the annual general meeting.Your directors believe that
Mr Tucker’s positive and constructive contributions are of great
value and consequently believe that it is in the best interest of the
company to retain his services for a further period. If Mr Tucker
is re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
company, and for as long as the board and Mr Tucker agree that
his appointment should continue, he will offer himself for re-election
on an annual basis.

Further details of your directors, their service agreements and
their interests in the company’s securities, are given on pages 
28 and 29, and pages 36 to 39.
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Taxation

The company is not a close company within the provisions of the
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988.

The official price of a Wolseley plc ordinary share on 31 March
1982, adjusted for all subsequent capitalisation and rights issues
is 55.5 pence.

Charitable and political contributions

During the year the group made contributions for charitable
purposes within the United Kingdom of £20,000 (2000: £20,000).
No contributions were made to political parties.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers have expressed their willingness to
continue in office as auditors. A resolution for the re-appointment
of PricewaterhouseCoopers, and for their remuneration to be fixed
by the directors, will be proposed at the annual general meeting.

The board is committed to high standards of corporate
governance throughout the group’s business operations. Adoption
and maintenance of good governance is the responsibility of the
board as a whole.This report explains how the board applies the
principles of good governance as set out in the Combined Code
published in June 1998 and annexed to the Listing Rules of 
the UK Listing Authority.

The board

As at 31 July 2001 the board of directors was made up of 11
members comprising the non-executive Chairman, six executive
directors and four non-executive directors achieving an appropriate
balance of independence and experience. Biographical details of the
directors are shown on pages 28 and 29. Formal scheduled board
meetings are held at least nine times each year. Board members are
regularly provided with information of appropriate quality to enable
them to discharge their duties.The board has a formal schedule of
matters reserved for its decision and has an agreed procedure for its
members to take independent professional advice at the company’s
expense in the furtherance of their duties. All directors have 
access to the services of the Company Secretary.

The company’s articles of association provide that over a 
three year period each director will be proposed for re-election 
by shareholders in general meeting. Additionally, new directors are
subject to election by shareholders at the first opportunity after
their appointment. It is board policy that non-executive directors do
not generally serve on the board for more than nine years. In cases
where it is proposed to exceed this period the director concerned
will retire annually and offer himself for re-election.

The board has established a number of committees, each of 
which has a formal constitution, to assist in the discharge of its
duties. Members of the various committees are shown on page 76.
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to all board committees.

Executive committee

The executive directors of the company meet formally at least
nine times each year, usually on the day before the formal board
meeting.The purpose of these meetings is for executive directors
to address business issues and to share best practice thereby
allowing more time at board meetings to focus on strategy.

Audit committee

The committee comprises three non-executive directors. It meets
at least twice each year. Its role is to review the scope, results and
cost-effectiveness of the audit, the effectiveness of the group’s
internal control systems and risk management procedures, and
the form and content of the group’s financial statements,
compliance controls and accounting policies and practices.

Droitwich Spa
25 September 2001

On behalf of the board
D A Branson

Secretary
Wolseley plc

Registered No. 29846
England
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Environment

The principal activities of the Wolseley group involve the distribution
of plumbing and heating products, building materials and lumber
products, and industrial pipes, valves and fittings.The environmental
impact of these distribution activities in themselves is low compared
to many other industries. Nonetheless, the group recognises the
importance of environmental responsibility and the impact that
its operations have on the environment, and believes strongly that
good environmental practice makes good business sense.

Wolseley is in the process of undertaking a benchmarking study,
initially covering the group’s principal European operations.
The purpose of the study is to formulate more detailed
environmental policies on a group basis, and, ultimately, to develop
a consistent set of environmental standards to be applied across
the group as a whole. It is intended that the results should give
added momentum to the environmental programmes of group
companies, and allow Wolseley to better manage the process.

Central to the group’s success has been the high degree of autonomy
afforded to local managements, allowing them to serve the markets
in which they operate in the most appropriate manner. Within this
decentralised structure the Wolseley board has set down a number
of environmental principles with which the group’s businesses are
required to comply.

The principles cover the integration of environmental
management into business operations and a commitment to strive
for continual improvement, a commitment to prevent pollution,
and a requirement that all group companies comply fully with
local environmental legislation.

These principles are applied within the group’s businesses in many
different ways.The following examples are representative.

Lumber
Wolseley’s building materials distribution business in the USA,
Carolina Holdings Inc, is scrupulous in sourcing its lumber from
second and third growth timberlands that are managed using best
forestry practices. As a market leader in the USA, it is well aware
of its responsibilities towards the environment, and it is a central
principle of the company that the products it sells are both top
quality and provided by proactive stewards of forestry resources.

Carolina’s primary sources for lumber and wood panels are the
major integrated producers in North America, which all have
sophisticated and accepted timberland management plans.
Smaller suppliers must have a positive track record of providing
quality products sourced from ethical producers, before being
recognised as a potential supply line.

Outside North America, Carolina’s suppliers include companies
such as Royal Mahogany of Costa Rica, which has an exceptional
reputation for sustainable management of hardwood plantations,

and in Chile, a number of radiata pine moulding producers who
draw solely from managed plantation forests.

In addition, Carolina works closely with its supplier partners to
develop innovative composite components made of recycled and
wood-substitute products, such as cement fibre sidings and trim
and extruded PVC mouldings, and is active in promoting these
products to its customers.

Waste management
In the UK, Wolseley Centers has employed a specialist waste
contractor to manage its waste output at its new Marston Gate
distribution centre. Waste at the site is divided into different
streams, with all cardboard, plastic and wood waste being sold
for reprocessing, rather than sent to landfill. Wolseley Centers
plans to roll out this programme to its other distribution centres 
in the near future.

ÖAG in Austria has a similar waste management strategy operating
across all sites.Their ‘abfallwirtschafts-konzept’, in place since
late 1994, is an organisation wide programme that streams waste
for collection and reprocessing by specialist contractors. As well
as benefiting the environment, the programme generates significant
cost savings for ÖAG, ranging between €0.2m – €0.3m per annum.

Transport
Since early 1999, Ferguson in the USA has been using 
transport management software to optimise the movements of 
its delivery fleet.The programme analyses incoming orders and
the corresponding delivery locations, and designs runs with minimal
mileage. Since the introduction of the programme, the number of
miles travelled by its delivery fleet have reduced by 10% – some
758,000 miles in this past year alone – with corresponding
reductions in vehicle emissions, vehicle wear and fuel costs.

Substantial shareholders

On 25 September 2001 the company had been notified of the
following interests in its issued share capital:

Ordinary % of issued
shares of ordinary
25p each capital

Aegon Asset Management 17,905,103 3.11

Legal & General 
Investment Management 17,603,131 3.05

Sprucegrove Investment
Management 18,462,000 3.20
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Corporate governance

Control processes

The board reviews its strategic plans and objectives on an annual
basis, and approves group company budgets and strategies in light
of these. Control is exercised at both group and subsidiary board
level through monthly monitoring of performance by comparison to
budgets, forecasts and cash targets, and by regular visits to group
companies by the Chief Executive and Group Finance Director.

Twice a year group companies approve and submit risk reports 
to the audit committee, summarising the key risks facing their
businesses and the controls in place to manage those risks.
These reports, together with reports on internal control prepared
by the group’s external auditors, are reviewed by the Group
Finance Director and the audit committee.

On an annual basis group companies submit risk representation
letters to the audit committee on internal control and risk
management issues, with comments on the control environment
within their operations.

The chairman of the audit committee reports to the board 
on risk management and internal control matters following 
each audit committee meeting.

The board has formal procedures in place for the approval 
of investment and acquisition projects, with designated levels 
of authority, backed up by post investment review processes 
for all acquisitions and major capital expenditure.

At least twice a year, the audit committee meets with the 
external auditors without the presence of executive management.

Internal audit

The board confirms that it has reviewed the need for an internal
audit function, but for the present believes that the internal
control and risk management procedures provide sufficient 
and objective assurance on risk and control.This situation will 
be kept under review.

Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors are required by United Kingdom company law to
prepare accounts for each financial period which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group
as at the end of the financial period and of the profit or loss for
that period.

Following discussions with the auditors, the directors consider that
in preparing the accounts, appropriate accounting policies have been
used and applied consistently, supported by reasonable and prudent
judgements and estimates, and that applicable UK accounting
standards have also been applied.

The directors are also responsible for maintaining adequate
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the company and the group which enable
them to ensure that the accounts comply with the UK Companies
Act 1985.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the website. Uncertainty regarding legal requirements is
compounded as information published on the internet is accessible
in many countries with different legal requirements relating to 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements.

The directors have general responsibility for taking such steps 
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
company and the group and to prevent and detect fraud or any
other irregularity.

Going concern

A statement on the going concern basis of preparing the group
accounts is included in the financial review on page 27.

Compliance statement

Throughout the year the group has fully complied with the
Combined Code’s Code of Best Practice with the following
exceptions:

■ The board has considered the nomination of a senior
independent non-executive director but believes that, given the
size and composition of the board, and the quality of the board’s
independent non-executive directors, such a nomination is 
not appropriate.

■ At the beginning of the year, Richard Ireland held the position
of executive Chairman, pending the appointment of a new Chief
Executive. Following the appointment of Charles Banks as Chief
Executive, with effect from 3 May 2001, Richard Ireland
relinquished his executive responsibilities and assumed the role
of non-executive Chairman. As a consequence of the foregoing,
prior to 3 May 2001 there were less than three non-executive
directors on the audit committee.

■ Following the introduction of a new directors bonus scheme 
as of 1 August 2000, the pensionable salary of one executive
director includes his bonus up to a maximum amount.

Corporate governance

Remuneration committee

The committee comprises three non-executive directors. Its role is
to make recommendations on the board’s remuneration policy and
to determine, in accordance with the board’s remuneration policy,
the remuneration and benefits of the Chairman and the executive
directors, including the grant of executive share options and other
incentive arrangements.The board’s remuneration report is set
out on pages 36 to 39.

Treasury committee

The committee comprises two non-executive directors, the Chief
Executive, the Finance Director, the Group Treasurer and the
Company Secretary. Its role is to consider treasury policy and
certain transactions on behalf of the group within a framework
delegated by the board.

Capital committee

The committee comprises any two directors, one of whom must
be the Chairman or the Chief Executive. It has defined authority
to review and approve certain capital applications, including
acquisitions, and certain disposals.

Appointments and salaries committee

The committee comprises any two directors of the company,
one of whom must be either the Chairman or the Chief Executive.
Its role includes the review and recommendation to the board on
the fees and terms of engagement of the non-executive directors.

Nominations committee

The committee comprises three non-executive directors. It is
responsible for considering and recommending to the board changes
in the board’s composition and membership.

Shareholder relations

Throughout the year the company has maintained regular dialogue
with institutional shareholders. In addition, through the AGM and
meetings with other shareholder representatives, this dialogue has
been extended to include private shareholders.The group’s annual
report, half-year report and announcements issued to the London
and New York stock exchanges are published on the company’s
website www.wolseley.com. Notice of the company’s annual general
meeting is circulated to all shareholders at least 20 working days
before such meeting. It is company policy not to combine
resolutions to be proposed at general meetings. At the annual
general meeting shareholders are given the opportunity to present
questions on general business matters and it is standard practice
to have the audit, remuneration and nominations committee 

chairmen available to answer questions. Details of proxy voting
are declared by the Chairman after a vote on a show of hands
and are published on the company’s website shortly after 
the meeting.

Internal control 

In a highly decentralised group, where local management have
considerable autonomy to run and develop their businesses, a well
designed system of internal control is necessary to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the company’s assets.

The board has formally adopted an internal control and risk
management framework to meet the requirements set down in the
guidance on internal control issued by the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in September 1999.
The framework has been in place for the year under review and
up to the date on which these report and accounts were approved.

The board confirms that the group has ongoing processes, which are
regularly reviewed, for identifying, evaluating and managing the
significant risks it faces. However, given the inherent limitations of
any system of internal control, it follows that the processes in place
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve the group’s business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The board has reviewed the effectiveness of the group’s system 
of internal control for the year under review.

A summary of the principal control structures and processes 
in place across the group is set out below.

Control structures

The board has overall responsibility for the group’s system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.The board 
has delegated responsibility for the internal control and risk
management programme to the Group Finance Director.
The detailed review of internal control and risk management 
has been delegated to the audit committee.

The management of each Wolseley group company is responsible
for internal control and risk management within its own company,
and for ensuring compliance with the group’s policies and
procedures.

Each group company has appointed a risk director whose primary
role in this capacity is to ensure compliance by local management
with the group’s risk management and internal control programme.

To reinforce these internal control requirements, the external
auditors have reviewed the overall approach adopted by the
group towards its risk management activities.
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The company’s policy is to provide remuneration packages that
fairly reward executives for the contribution they make to the
business, having regard to the size and complexity of the group’s
business operations and the need to attract, retain and motivate
executives of appropriate calibre. Remuneration packages comprise
salary, performance bonuses, share options, benefits in kind and
pensions. Additionally, a cash long term incentive plan has recently
been introduced for the Chief Executive. Full consideration has
been given to schedule A of the Combined Code and the need to
align directors’ and shareholders’ interests.The following disclosures
are in accordance with schedule B of the Combined Code.

Salaries

Basic salaries are determined having regard to competitive market
data relative to the markets in which the executive directors operate,
as obtained from remuneration and benefits surveys and other
available external data, the degree of individual responsibility,
individual performance and after giving consideration to the wider
employment scene, including general pay and employment conditions
elsewhere in the group.The remuneration committee reviewed 
the salaries of the executive directors at 1 August 2000 and,
where appropriate, adjusted in accordance with independent
advice obtained.

Service agreements

All current service agreements with executive directors are subject
to a maximum of 12 months’ notice of termination if given by the
company and six months’ notice of termination if given by the
executive director.

Messrs Banks, Hord and Hornsby do not have service agreements
with the company or any subsidiary undertaking.

There are no provisions in any service agreement for early
termination payments. In the event of early termination of any
service agreement the remuneration committee takes a robust view
of the mitigation which should be taken into account when
computing compensation payable.

Performance bonuses

Performance bonus arrangements are designed to encourage
operating efficiencies and profitable growth, thereby enhancing
shareholder value.

A new annual bonus scheme was introduced for certain executive
directors with effect from 1 August 2000.The scheme, and the level 
of payment, is intended to provide a more direct link to annual
performance and depends on performance against annual 
targets of profits and cashflow of the group and, where relevant,
the appropriate division.The new scheme did not apply to 

Charles Banks or Claude Hornsby during the year under review
as they both participated in the Ferguson bonus scheme. For the
first year of their participation in the new bonus arrangements,
being the year ending 31 July 2002, a transitional minimum bonus
of US$420,000 and US$400,000 respectively has been guaranteed.
This is to provide some level of earnings protection for the first year
of participation in the new arrangements. Bonuses are generally
non-pensionable. In the case of Mr Hord, however, it has been agreed
that in order to preserve his pension entitlement at the date the new
scheme was introduced, his bonus up to a maximum of US$742,400
would remain pensionable.

Richard Ireland received a cash bonus of £160,000 during the
year which related to his tenure as executive Chairman.This bonus
was determined by the remuneration committee in recognition of
the group’s development during this period.

Long term incentive plan

Charles Banks was awarded a long term incentive plan with effect
from 1 August 2001. It is designed to measure the company’s
total shareholder return relative to a defined list of comparator
companies.This list, in the main, is based on the FTSE100 as at
1 August 2001.The maximum sum payable for each three year
period ending on 31 July 2004, 2005 and 2006 is 50% of basic
annual salary for top decile performance, reducing on a straight
line basis to no award for less than median performance.

Pensions

UK executive directors participate in the Wolseley Group
Retirement Benefits Plan (‘the Plan’).The Plan is a defined
benefits scheme and provides benefits based on final pensionable
salaries. Group companies make contributions to the Plan based
on the recommendation of the Plan actuary. UK executive directors
contribute 4% per annum of pensionable salary to the Plan.
Bonuses payable to UK executive directors are not pensionable.

The company has a future obligation to Stephen Webster to pay
the difference between his pensionable entitlement based upon 
the relevant portion of his final salary and the maximum amount
payable under the rules of the Plan.The additional arrangements
are designed to provide Mr Webster with a pension equivalent to
that which he would have received under the rules of the Plan had
there been no ‘earnings cap’.The amount charged to the profit and
loss account during the year in respect of this future obligation
was £23,700 (2000: £nil).

Charles Banks and Claude Hornsby participate in the defined
contribution pension arrangements of Ferguson Enterprises. Fenton
Hord participates in the defined benefits and defined contribution
plans of Carolina Holdings. Jacques Descours participates in the
defined benefits pension arrangements of Brossette.

A US subsidiary undertaking has a commitment to a former
director, who is a United States citizen, to pay a joint survivor
pension of $300,000 per annum for fifteen years from 1 August
1993.The net present value of the future obligation at 31 July
2001 was £1.1 million (2000: £1.2 million) which has been
charged in prior years’ accounts.

Additionally, Brossette, a French subsidiary undertaking, has a
commitment to a former director, who is a French citizen, to pay
an annual pension of FF1.3 million, with a widow’s entitlement 
of 60%, subject to an annual increase based on the agreed French
pension index.The full actuarial cost of this arrangement was
provided in previous years as part of Brossette’s ongoing pension
obligations. Wolseley plc is guarantor of the future pension
commitment which at 31 July 2001 was approximately 
£2.1 million (2000: £2.0 million).

Fenton Hord is a member of a US non-qualified plan which,
when vested, will provide a benefit for 20 years after retirement 
at age 60 of 40% of final pensionable salary which is currently
$1.3 million. At Mr Hord’s option, and with company consent,
the benefit can be paid over a period of 5, 10 or 15 years with
the total amount of the benefit, in cash terms, being the same.
From 2 October 2000 to 31 July 2001 he accrued additional
benefits under this plan worth $362,000.

The following table shows the directors participating during the
year in other group defined benefits plans and the amounts of
pension entitlements earned, the accrued pension liabilities and
the changes therein.These pension liabilities are calculated using
the cash equivalent transfer value method prescribed in the
Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority.

Increase in Total accrued Increase in
accrued pension as transfer

pension during at 31 July value during
2001 2001 2001

£000 £000 £000

J R Descours 2 59 32
A J Hutton 10 124 125
S P Webster 2 11 34

The transfer values shown above are not payable to the
individuals concerned.

The following table shows those directors participating in money
purchase pension plans and the cost of the group’s contributions
thereto:

2001 2000

£000 £000

C A Banks 166 148
F N Hord 8 –
C S Hornsby 14 –
J B Thomas 75 53
S P Webster 24 –

287 201

Other benefits

UK executive directors receive certain other benefits principally
relating to the provision of company cars and health care
arrangements. Charles Banks is also entitled to certain additional
benefits such as relocation and housing allowances following his
recent transfer to the UK.

Non-executive directors

Non-executive directors are paid fees which are reviewed from
time to time by the board.The following non-executive directors
have letters of appointment which expire, subject to their 
re-election as directors, as follows:

Richard Ireland, John Allan and Robert Walker on 31 July 2002
and John Whybrow on 31 July 2003.

Non-executive directors do not participate in any incentive 
plan nor is any pension payable in respect of their services as
non-executive directors. Richard Ireland received a bonus in 
2000 and 2001 relating to his position as executive Chairman
during the period 22 June 2000 to 3 May 2001.
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Directors’ remuneration
Salary 2001 2000
& fees Bonus Benefits Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chairman

R Ireland 379 160 5 544 186

Executive directors

C A Banks 446 722 33 1,201 1,025
J R Descours 263 33 2 298 264
F N Hord 374 512 1 887 –
(appointed 2 October 2000)

C S Hornsby 86 84 5 175 –
(appointed 3 May 2001)

I E Humphries – – – – 220
A J Hutton 280 70 15 365 279
J B Thomas 622 163 29 814 574
S P Webster 290 86 25 401 309
J W G Young – – – – 434

Non-executive directors

J M Allan 28 – – 28 27
D L Tucker 28 – – 28 27
R M Walker 28 – – 28 27
J W Whybrow 28 – – 28 27

Compensation for loss
of office: J W G Young – – – – 420

Pensions to former 
directors – – – 336 320

Pension contributions 
to money purchase plans – – – 287 201

Aggregate gain on 
exercise of share options – – – 178 1

5,598 4,341

2001 2000

Highest paid director £000 £000

Aggregate emoluments 
and gains on share options 1,293 1,025

Share options

The company operates executive share option schemes for executive
directors and other senior group executives. Such options have not
been and will not be granted at a discount to the relevant middle
market price at the time of grant.

The remuneration committee considers annually the levels of grants,
which are phased over time.

Options granted prior to 31 May 1994 are not subject to any
minimum performance target.

Options granted between May 1994 and December 1996 may not
be exercised unless the growth in earnings per share over a period
of three consecutive financial years exceeds the growth in the UK
retail price index over the same period by at least 6%.

Options granted to executive directors in and subsequent to
December 1997 may not be exercised unless growth in earnings per
share over a period of three consecutive financial years exceeds
growth in the UK retail price index over the same period by at least
9%. In addition, the number of options exercisable is determined by
the return on capital employed achieved over the same rolling three
year period. For options granted in 1997 and 1998, achieving a
return on capital employed of 15% per annum will enable 50% of
options granted to become exercisable, rising on a sliding scale to
100% for achieving a return on capital employed of 20% or more.
With effect from October 1999 the maximum return on capital
employed required to permit exercise of 100% of options granted
was reduced from 20% to 17.5% and the sliding scale has been
adjusted accordingly.

UK based executive directors may also participate in the savings
related share option scheme.

The middle market price of the ordinary shares at 31 July 2001
was 500 pence and the range during the year then ended was 
260 pence to 546 pence.

Executive share option schemes
Options at

Options Options at 1 August
Subscription exercisable 31 July 2000 or on

Name of director price between 2001 appointment

C A Banks 203.25 1995–2002 – 14,000
220.75 1995–2002 – 15,000
350.25 1996–2003 19,200 19,200
388.75 1997–2004 16,800 16,800
440.00 1998–2005 14,500 14,500
483.50 2000–2007 35,000 35,000
381.00 2001–2008 25,000 25,000
397.00 2002–2009 22,000 22,000
349.75 2003–2010 50,000 –
468.00 2004–2011 400,000 –

J R Descours 220.75 1995–2002 16,600 16,600
350.25 1996–2003 7,200 7,200
388.75 1997–2004 8,000 8,000
433.00 1998–2005 8,300 8,300
456.50 1999–2006 10,000 10,000
483.50 2000–2007 10,000 10,000
381.00 2001–2008 25,000 25,000
397.00 2002–2009 22,000 22,000
349.75 2003–2010 50,000 –

Executive share option schemes (continued)
Options at

Options Options at 1 August
Subscription exercisable 31 July 2000 or on

Name of director price between 2001 appointment

F N Hord 203.25 1995–2002 – 4,000
220.75 1995–2002 – 10,000
350.25 1996–2003 11,200 11,200
388.75 1997–2004 13,000 13,000
440.00 1998–2005 13,000 13,000
456.50 1999–2006 10,000 10,000
483.50 2000–2007 10,000 10,000
381.00 2001–2008 10,000 10,000
397.00 2002–2009 12,000 12,000
349.75 2003–2010 50,000 –

C S Hornsby 203.25 1995–2002 6,000 6,000
220.75 1995–2002 8,000 8,000
350.25 1996–2003 7,600 7,600
388.75 1997–2004 8,000 8,000
440.00 1998–2005 8,000 8,000
456.50 1999–2006 8,000 8,000
483.50 2000–2007 8,000 8,000
381.00 2001–2008 8,000 8,000
397.00 2002–2009 10,000 10,000
349.75 2003–2010 15,000 –
485.00 2004–2011 100,000 –

A J Hutton 388.75 1997–2004 16,800 16,800
433.00 1998–2005 16,800 16,800
483.50 2000–2007 35,000 35,000
381.00 2001–2008 25,000 25,000
397.00 2002–2009 22,000 22,000
349.75 2003–2010 50,000 –

S P Webster 433.00 1998–2005 16,800 16,800
483.50 2000–2007 35,000 35,000
381.00 2001–2008 25,000 25,000
397.00 2002–2009 22,000 22,000
349.75 2003–2010 50,000 –

Charles Banks was awarded an option over 400,000 shares on 
his appointment as Group Chief Executive. Claude Hornsby was
awarded an option over 100,000 shares on his appointment 
to the board.

During the year directors exercised options over 76,200 ordinary
shares of 25 pence each as follows:

Date of No of Price at date Gain
Name of Director Exercise Shares of exercise £000

F N Hord 19 Oct 2000 14,000 344.75 18
J B Thomas 4 Jan 2001 10,000 453.00 25

15 Jun 2001 23,200 470.00 43
C A Banks 10 Jul 2001 29,000 529.00 92

76,200 178

Savings related share option scheme
Option Options at Options at

Subscription period 31 July 1 August
Name of director price expires in 2001 2000

A J Hutton 336p 2006 2,008 –
368p 2003 2,119 2,119
409p 2002 2,860 2,860

S P Webster 368p 2003 3,179 3,179
345p 2003 2,000 2,000

No savings related share options lapsed or were exercised
during the year.

Shares

Directors’ interests, including family interests, in Wolseley plc
ordinary shares of 25 pence each were:

1 August 2000 
or on

31 July 2001 appointment

J M Allan 5,000 5,000
C A Banks 89,344 52,344
J R Descours – –
F N Hord 24,000 10,000
C S Hornsby 800 6,800
A J Hutton 31,032 30,019
R Ireland 97,093 * 99,093 *
D L Tucker 100,000 28,541
R M Walker 1,971 –
S P Webster 16,891 16,891
J W Whybrow 11,519 † 15,784

* Includes 42,775 (2000 44,775) ordinary shares of 25 pence each, non-beneficial.

As at 31 July 2001 none of the directors had any beneficial
interest in the shares of subsidiary undertakings. Save as disclosed,
and apart from contracts of employment, none of the directors 
had a material beneficial interest in any contract of significance
to which the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings was 
a party during the financial year.

Droitwich Spa
25 September 2001

On behalf of the board
D A Branson

Secretary

† After the announcement on 25 September 2001 Mr Whybrow purchased a further

10,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each.
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Balance sheets
As at 31 July 2001

Restated* Restated* 
2001 2000 2001 2000

Notes £m £m £m £m

Fixed assets
Intangible assets 9 474.3 277.0 – –
Tangible assets 10 592.3 531.6 – –
Investments 11 0.2 – 1,487.6 1,359.2

1,066.8 808.6 1,487.6 1,359.2

Current assets
Stocks 12 1,093.8 977.7 – –
Debtors and property awaiting disposal 13 1,362.0 1,133.1 1,905.6 1,682.8
Construction loans receivable (secured) 14 215.5 193.0 – –
Investments 15 14.3 8.3 – –
Cash at bank, in hand and on deposit 243.4 128.2 77.3 –

2,929.0 2,440.3 1,982.9 1,682.8

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Short term borrowings 16 274.4 186.1 199.3 199.6
Construction loans borrowings (unsecured) 14 215.2 192.1 – –
Other creditors 17 1,247.0 1,070.7 1,167.6 1,003.0

1,736.6 1,448.9 1,366.9 1,202.6

Net current assets 1,192.4 991.4 616.0 480.2
Total assets less current liabilities 2,259.2 1,800.0 2,103.6 1,839.4
Creditors: amounts falling due after one year 
Borrowings 18 677.0 404.7 658.9 333.8
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 85.8 70.6 – –

762.8 475.3 658.9 333.8
1,496.4 1,324.7 1,444.7 1,505.6

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 20 144.1 143.7 144.1 143.7
Share premium account 21 161.9 156.7 161.9 156.7 
Capital reserve 21 – – 166.6 169.3
Profit and loss account 21 1,190.4 1,022.8 972.1 1,035.9
Shareholders’ funds 1,496.4 1,323.2 1,444.7 1,505.6
Minority interests – equity 21 – 1.5 – –

1,496.4 1,324.7 1,444.7 1,505.6

The accounts on pages 40 to 67 were approved by the board of directors on 25 September 2001 and were signed on its behalf by:

Richard Ireland
CHAIRMAN

*Restated following the adoption of FRS 19, Accounting for Deferred Taxation. More details are given in the Accounting Policies on page 43.

Group profit and loss account 
Year ended 31 July 2001

– The group – – The company –
Restated* 

2001 2000

Notes £m £m

Turnover 1
Continuing operations 6,907.1 6,110.1
Acquisitions 234.5 –

7,141.6 6,110.1
Discontinued activities 53.3 293.3

7,194.9 6,403.4
Operating profit before goodwill amortisation 1 414.2 385.7
Goodwill amortisation 3 (17.8) (12.5)

Operating profit
Continuing operations 380.3 354.2
Acquisitions 12.4 –

392.7 354.2
Discontinued activities 3.7 19.0

1,2 & 3 396.4 373.2
Loss on disposal of operations 24 (70.0) (42.6)

Profit on ordinary activities before interest 326.4 330.6
Net interest payable 4 (35.2) (28.3)

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 291.2 302.3
Taxation 5
Current tax charge (102.8) (114.4)
Deferred tax charge (3.3) (2.7)
Exceptional credit – 6.0

(106.1) (111.1)

Profit after tax 185.1 191.2
Minority interests – (0.4)
Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders 185.1 190.8
Dividends 6 (97.4) (88.3)
Profit retained 87.7 102.5

Earnings per share 7
Before goodwill amortisation and exceptionals 47.43p 41.79p
Goodwill amortisation (3.09p) (2.17p)
Exceptionals (12.17p) (6.38p)
Basic earnings per share 32.17p 33.24p
Diluted earnings per share 32.12p 33.20p

Group statement of total recognised gains and losses 
Year ended 31 July 2001

Restated* 
2001 2000

£m £m

Profit for the financial year 185.1 190.8
Currency translation differences 35.6 42.2
Total recognised gains and losses for the financial year 220.7 233.0
Prior year adjustment (see accounting policies on page 43) 14.3
Total gains and losses recognised since last annual report 235.0
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Accounting policies

Basis of accounting

These accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention
and in accordance with applicable UK accounting standards.

The requirements of FRS19 (Deferred Tax) have been implemented
in the current year. The comparative figures have been restated
accordingly. This has resulted in the recognition of a deferred
taxation asset of £14.3 million at 31 July 2000 and an increase
in the taxation charge reported in the year ended 31 July 2000 
of £2.7 million.The impact of the change in accounting policy for
the year ended 31 July 2001 is to reduce reported profit after
taxation by £3.3 million. Comparative figures for 31 July 2000
have been restated as follows:

Profit for the period 
after dividends Net assets 

£m £m

As previously reported 105.2 1,310.4
Implementation of FRS19 (2.7) 14.3
As restated 102.5 1,324.7

The requirements of FRS18 (Accounting Policies) have been
implemented in the current year.There is no financial impact.
However the group has adopted a revised profit and loss format
which is considered more appropriate to a distribution company
(see note 2).

Basis of consolidation

The group accounts include the results of the parent company 
and its subsidiary undertakings drawn up to 31 July.

The trading results of businesses acquired, sold or discontinued
during the year are included in profit on ordinary activities from
the date of effective acquisition or up to the date of sale or
discontinuance, unless provision therefore has been made in 
earlier years.

Foreign currencies

The trading results of overseas subsidiary undertakings are
translated into sterling using average rates of exchange ruling
during the relevant financial period.

The balance sheets of overseas subsidiary undertakings are
translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at 31 July.
Exchange differences arising between the translation into sterling
of the net assets of these subsidiary undertakings at rates ruling at
the beginning and end of the year are dealt with through reserves
as are exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings 
raised to finance overseas assets.

Exchange differences on financial instruments entered into for
foreign currency net assets hedging purposes are dealt with
through reserves.

The cost of the company’s investments in overseas subsidiary
undertakings is translated into sterling at the rate ruling at the
date of investment.

All other foreign currency assets and liabilities of the company
and its United Kingdom subsidiary undertakings are translated into
sterling at the rate ruling at 31 July except in those instances where
forward cover has been arranged, in which case this forward 
rate is used.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into
sterling at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction
except when forward exchange contracts are in place, when the
forward contract rate is used. Any exchange differences are 
dealt with through the profit and loss account.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises when the cost of acquiring subsidiary undertakings
and businesses exceeds the fair value attributed to the net assets
acquired. Prior to 1 August 1998, goodwill arising on consolidation
and purchased goodwill was written off to reserves. Following
publication of FRS10, a revised policy for accounting for goodwill
was adopted with effect from 1 August 1998. Goodwill arising
from acquisitions completed on or after that date is capitalised
and amortised on a straight line basis over a period of not more
than 20 years. A life of 20 years has been determined to reflect
the estimated useful economic life of the acquisitions made during
the year. Goodwill has not been reinstated on the balance sheet 
on acquisitions prior to 1 August 1998.

The net assets of businesses acquired are incorporated in the
consolidated accounts at their fair value to the group. Fair value
adjustments principally relate to adjustments necessary to bring
the accounting policies of acquired businesses into line with those
of the Wolseley group but may also include other adjustments
necessary to restate assets and liabilities at their fair values at
the date of acquisition. All businesses acquired are consolidated
using the acquisition method of accounting.

Group cash flow statement 
Year ended 31 July 2001

2001 2000

Notes £m £m

Net cash inflow from operating activities 27 518.0 390.0
Net cash outflow from returns on
investments and servicing of finance 28 (36.9) (24.1)
Tax paid (90.9) (112.6)
Capital expenditure 28 (108.8) (117.0)
Acquisitions 25 (400.6) (285.7)
Purchase of minority interests (1.5) –
Disposals 26 13.0 122.7
Equity dividends paid (90.8) (81.1)
Cash outflow before use of liquid resources and financing (198.5) (107.8)
Management of liquid resources 28 (6.0) 55.7
Financing 28 254.0 191.1
Increase in cash in period 49.5 139.0

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt 29
Increase in cash in period 49.5 139.0
Cash flow from increase in debt and lease financing (248.5) (189.1)
Cash flow from increase/(decrease) in liquid resources 6.0 (55.7)

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows (193.0) (105.8)
New finance leases (4.8) (5.8)
Translation difference (41.6) (33.7)

Movement in net debt in period (239.4) (145.3)
Opening net debt (454.3) (309.0)
Closing net debt (693.7) (454.3)
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Notes to the accounts  
Year ended 31 July 2001

1 Segmental analysis
New Increment Movement in

acquisitions on 2000 discontinued
2000 Exchange 2001 acquisitions operations — Organic change — 2001

Analysis of change in sales £m £m £m £m £m £m % £m

European Distribution 2,196.4 (14.4) 54.2 11.8 – 123.4 5.7 2,371.4
North American Plumbing & 
Heating Distribution 2,551.2 242.0 77.2 27.9 – 102.2 3.7 3,000.5
US Building Materials Distribution 1,362.5 129.2 103.1 306.1 – (131.2) (8.8) 1,769.7

6,110.1 356.8 234.5 345.8 – 94.4 1.5 7,141.6
Discontinued operations 293.3 4.3 – – (244.3) – 53.3

6,403.4 361.1 234.5 345.8 (244.3) 94.4 7,194.9

New Increment Movement in
acquisitions on 2000 discontinued

2000 Exchange 2001 acquisitions operations — Organic change — 2001

Analysis of change in operating profit £m £m £m £m £m £m % £m

European Distribution 145.3 (0.8) 2.9 0.6 – 10.2 7.1 158.2
North American Plumbing & 
Heating Distribution 135.9 13.1 4.5 1.4 – 0.6 0.4 155.5
US Building Materials Distribution 85.5 8.3 8.0 17.9 – (22.9) (24.4) 96.8

366.7 20.6 15.4 19.9 – (12.1) (3.1) 410.5
Discontinued operations 19.0 0.1 – – (15.4) – 3.7
Operating profit before goodwill 
amortisation and exceptionals 385.7 20.7 15.4 19.9 (15.4) (12.1) 414.2

Operating Restated
Turnover profit Net assets

2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

By class of business £m £m £m £m £m £m

European Distribution 2,371.4 2,196.4 149.6 137.7 736.6 662.5
North American Plumbing & 
Heating Distribution 3,000.5 2,551.2 151.9 133.5 940.1 709.9
US Building Materials Distribution 1,769.7 1,362.5 91.2 83.0 644.9 559.4
Manufacturing 53.3 293.3 3.7 19.0 – 33.1
Parent and other – – – – (60.2) (121.1)

7,194.9 6,403.4 396.4 373.2 2,261.4 1,843.8

Manufacturing was, in the main, conducted in Europe. Included in this division were businesses based in the USA which had aggregate
turnover of £nil (2000: £65.3m), trading profit of £nil (2000: £1.9m) and net assets of £nil (2000: £nil).
Net assets are defined as fixed assets plus net current assets, less provisions for liabilities and charges but excluding investments, cash,
borrowings and dividends payable.
The divisional operating and trading profits are stated after the allocation of central costs and charges.

2001 2000

Turnover by geographical origin and destination £m £m

United Kingdom 1,504.9 1,454.4
France 560.4 571.6
United States 4,738.7 3,981.6
Rest of the World 390.9 395.8

7,194.9 6,403.4

Turnover by geographical origin and destination are not materially different. In addition, turnover between business and geographical
segments is not material.

Accounting policies

Turnover

Turnover is the amount receivable for the provision of goods and
services falling within the group’s ordinary activities, excluding intra
group sales, trade discounts, value added tax and similar sales taxes.

Leased assets

Where fixed assets are financed by leasing agreements which 
give rights approximating to ownership, the assets are treated as
if they had been purchased and the capital element of the leasing
commitments is included in borrowings.The rentals payable are
apportioned between interest, which is charged to the profit and
loss account, and capital, which reduces the outstanding obligation.
Costs in respect of operating leases are charged in arriving at 
the trading profit.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets (except
freehold land) mainly on a straight line basis to write off the 
cost of those assets over their estimated useful lives.The principal
rates of depreciation are: freehold buildings and long leaseholds,
2%; short leaseholds, over the period of the lease; plant and
machinery, 10%–15%; fixtures and fittings, 15%; computers,
20%–100% and motor vehicles, 25%.

Real property awaiting disposal

Real property awaiting disposal is transferred to current assets at
the lower of book written down value and estimated net realisable
value. Depreciation is not applied to real property awaiting disposal,
but the carrying value is reviewed annually and written down
through the profit and loss account to current estimated net
realisable value if lower.

Stocks

Stocks are valued at the lower of group cost and net realisable
value, due allowance being made for obsolete or slow moving items.
Raw materials, bought out components and goods purchased for
resale are stated at cost on a first in, first out basis. In the case
of goods of own manufacture, costs includes the relevant
proportion of factory overheads.

Debtors

Debtors are stated at their recoverable amount, due allowance
being made for old and doubtful balances.

Taxation

Following the introduction of FRS19 provision is made for deferred
tax in so far as a liability or asset arose as a result of transactions
that had occurred by the balance sheet date and gave rise to an
obligation to pay more tax in future, or a right to pay less tax in
future. An asset has not been recognised to the extent that the
transfer of economic benefits in future is uncertain. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities recognised have not been discounted.

Provision is made for UK or foreign taxation arising on the
distribution to the UK of retained profits of overseas subsidiary
undertakings where dividends have been recognised as receivable.

Product development expenditure

All such expenditure is written off in the year in which it is incurred.

Pensions

In the main, it is the policy of the group to provide for pension
liabilities by payments to trusts whose assets are completely
separate from the assets of the group. Such liabilities are funded
by the payment of contributions based on the advice of independent
actuaries or in accordance with the rules of the schemes.

The amount charged to the profit and loss account in respect 
of defined benefit pension plans is the amount calculated by
independent actuaries as being the expected cost of providing
pensions on a systematic and rational basis over the period during
which the group expects to derive benefit from the employees’
services. Additionally, certain amounts are charged in accordance
with the rules of defined contribution pension plans.The cost of 
ex gratia pensions is provided in full in the year in which they 
are awarded.
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Notes to the accounts  
Year ended 31 July 2001

5 Taxation

The corporate tax rates applicable in the countries in which the group principally operates are:
UK 30.0% (2000: 30.0%)
France 36.44% (2000: 37.8%)
USA 35.0% federal tax (2000: 35.0%) plus appropriate rates of state tax

Restated
2001 2000

The tax charge for the year comprises: £m £m

UK current year tax charge 93.5 33.4
Less: double tax relief (74.6) (9.1)

18.9 24.3
UK prior year (1.8) (5.5)
Total UK tax charge 17.1 18.8

Overseas current year tax charge 86.7 91.5
Overseas prior year (1.0) 4.1
Total overseas tax charge 85.7 95.6

Total current tax 102.8 114.4
Exceptional tax credit – (6.0)
Deferred tax-origination and reversal of timing differences 3.3 2.7
Total tax charge 106.1 111.1

No tax charge or credit arises in relation to the exceptional item in the current year.The exceptional tax credit in 2000 related to the
disposal of a subsidiary in the prior year.

Restated
2001 2000

Tax reconciliation: % %

Average UK corporation tax rate 30 30
Prior year amounts 1 1
Non deductable and non-taxable items (8) (3)
Deferred tax-origination and reversal of timing differences (1) (1)
Higher average tax rates in overseas companies 6 7
Exceptional loss at standard rate of corporation tax 7 4
Effective current tax rate on profit on ordinary activities before tax 35 38

Notes to the accounts  
Year ended 31 July 2001

2 Operating profit
Continuing Discontinued 2001 2000
operations Acquisitions operations Total Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Turnover 6,907.1 234.5 53.3 7,194.9 6,403.4
Cost of sales (5,073.0) (172.9) (36.3) (5,282.2) (4,720.9)
Gross profit 1,834.1 61.6 17.0 1,912.7 1,682.5
Distribution costs (1,269.1) (43.9) (9.2) (1,322.2) (1,119.9)
Administrative expenses (213.1) (5.3) (4.3) (222.7) (214.3)
Other operating income 28.4 – 0.2 28.6 24.9

380.3 12.4 3.7 396.4 373.2

3 Amounts charged in arriving at operating profit
2001 2000

£m £m

Operating lease rentals:
– Plant and machinery 7.2 4.0
– Other operating leases 80.0 67.6
Depreciation (including profit/loss on disposal of fixed assets) 85.4 73.9
Staff costs (note 8) 945.6 828.8
Goodwill amortisation 17.8 12.5

Amounts payable to the auditors:
Audit fees Company 0.1 0.1

Group 1.4 1.5
Taxation UK 2.4 2.9

Rest of world 0.1 0.2
Due diligence reviews UK 0.2 0.1

Rest of world 0.3 0.5
Other services UK 0.9 –

Rest of world 0.3 0.3
Total fees payable to the auditors 5.7 5.6

4 Net interest payable
2001 2000

£m £m

Interest receivable (30.2) (33.2)
Interest payable:
Borrowings wholly repayable within five years 63.9 61.0
Long term loans any part of which is repayable after five years  1.5 0.5

35.2 28.3

Net interest receivable on construction loans amounted to £6.7m (2000: £6.1m).
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Notes to the accounts  
Year ended 31 July 2001

8 Employee information and directors’ remuneration
2001 2000

£m £m

Wages and salaries 817.2 712.8
Social security costs 100.6 90.5
Other pension costs (note 34) 27.8 25.5

945.6 828.8

Details of directors’ remuneration and share options are set out in the remuneration report on pages 36 to 39.

2001 2000

The average weekly number of employees was:

European Distribution 13,106 12,180
North American Plumbing & Heating Distribution 11,711 11,049
US Building Materials Distribution 9,414 7,179
Manufacturing 503 2,977

34,734 33,385

9 Intangible fixed assets

The group £m

Goodwill cost
Cost at 1 August 2000 295.4
Additions 211.4
Revisions to prior year (3.8)
Exchange rate adjustment 7.9
At 31 July 2001 510.9

Goodwill amortisation

At 1 August 2000 18.4
Charge for the year 17.8
Exchange rate adjustment 0.4
At 31 July 2001 36.6
Net book value 31 July 2001 474.3
Net book value 1 August 2000 277.0

Following completion of opening balance sheet reviews for six US Building Materials Distribution acquisitions, inventory, debtor and 
other provisions were reduced by £3.8m thus reducing the goodwill on those acquisitions in 2000 from £87.4m to £83.6m.

Notes to the accounts  
Year ended 31 July 2001

The elements of deferred tax are as follows:
Restated

2001 2000

£m £m

Accelerated capital allowances (2.3) –
Other timing differences (13.7) (14.3)
Deferred tax asset (16.0) (14.3)

The movements in the deferred tax balance were as follows:
Provision at beginning of year (restated) (14.3) (16.8)
Amount charged to profit and loss account 3.3 2.7
Acquisitions (4.3) 0.7
Disposals (0.8) (0.9)
Exchange 0.1 –
Provision at end of year (16.0) (14.3)

The closing balance is made up of:
Deferred tax asset (17.9) (15.9)
Deferred tax liability 1.9 1.6

(16.0) (14.3)

There are other deferred tax assets in relation to tax losses totalling £0.8m (2000: £1.6m) that have not been recognised on the basis
that their future economic benefit is uncertain.

No provision has been made for deferred tax on gains recognised on revaluing property to its market value or on the sale of properties
where potentially taxable gains have been rolled over into replacement assets. Such tax would become payable only if the property were
sold without it being possible to claim rollover relief.The total amount unprovided for is £6.2m. At present, it is not anticipated that 
any tax will become payable in the foreseeable future.

6 Dividends
2001 2000

£m £m

Interim paid 4.55p per share (2000: 4.125p) 26.2 23.7
Final proposed 12.35p per share (2000: 11.225p) 71.2 64.6
Total 16.90p per share (2000: 15.35p) 97.4 88.3

7 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share of 32.17 pence is calculated on the profit of £185.1m (2000: £190.8m) accruing to ordinary share capital 
and on a weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of 575.3m (2000: 574.3m).The earnings per share before
exceptionals and goodwill amortisation of 47.43 pence is calculated on the profit of £272.9m accruing to ordinary share capital.

The impact of all potentially dilutive share options on earnings per share would be to increase the weighted average number of shares 
in issue by 1.0m and to reduce basic earnings per share by 0.05 pence.
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Notes to the accounts  
Year ended 31 July 2001

11 Investments (continued)
— Investment in subsidiaries —

Net book
Cost Provisions amount

The company £m £m £m

At 1 August 2000 1,362.4 (3.2) 1,359.2
Additions 150.0 (21.8) 128.2
At 31 July 2001 1,512.4 (25.0) 1,487.4

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the group and details of the nature of the shares held are listed on pages 69 to 70 
of these accounts.

A complete list of subsidiary undertakings is available on request to the company and will be filed with the next Annual Return 
to the Registrar of Companies.

12 Stocks
— The group —

2001 2000

£m £m

Raw materials – 7.0
Work in progress – 2.3
Finished goods – 4.9
Goods purchased for resale 1,093.8 963.5

1,093.8 977.7

The current replacement cost of stocks does not differ materially from the historical cost stated above.

Certain subsidiary undertakings have consignment stock arrangements with suppliers in the ordinary course of business. Items drawn
from consignment stock are generally invoiced to the companies concerned at the price ruling at the date of drawdown.The value of 
such stock, at cost, which has been excluded from the balance sheet in accordance with the application notes included in FRS 5,
amounted to £6.5m (2000: £4.8m).

13 Debtors
— The group — — The company —

Restated Restated
2001 2000 2001 2000

Amounts falling due within one year £m £m £m £m

Trade debtors 1,188.7 1,017.1 – –
Amounts owed by group undertakings – – 1,897.8 1,670.9
Other debtors 98.6 46.9 – –
Prepayments and accrued income 47.4 46.8 2.6 1.8
Corporation tax recoverable – – 2.2 7.7
Property awaiting disposal 9.4 6.4 2.2 2.2

1,344.1 1,117.2 1,904.8 1,682.6

Amounts falling due after more than one year
Deferred tax asset 17.9 15.9 0.8 0.2

1,362.0 1,133.1 1,905.6 1,682.8

Notes to the accounts  
Year ended 31 July 2001

10 Tangible fixed assets
— Land and buildings —

Plant,
Long term Short term machinery,

Freehold leasehold leasehold equipment Total

The group £m £m £m £m £m

Cost

At 1 August 2000 357.0 10.3 105.0 460.3 932.6
Exchange rate adjustment 11.3 – 3.1 12.4 26.8
New businesses 20.1 0.9 9.6 21.3 51.9
Additions 29.2 0.7 16.3 80.1 126.3
Disposals and transfers (15.1) – (4.1) (61.3) (80.5)
Property awaiting disposal (7.0) (0.6) – – (7.6)
At 31 July 2001 395.5 11.3 129.9 512.8 1,049.5

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 August 2000 63.2 2.8 53.2 281.8 401.0
Exchange rate adjustment 1.6 – 1.4 7.7 10.7
New businesses 1.5 – 4.4 11.2 17.1
Charge for the year – owned assets 9.1 0.4 10.0 62.9 82.4

– leased assets – – 0.2 4.6 4.8
Disposals and transfers (3.4) – (1.7) (52.9) (58.0)
Property awaiting disposal (0.8) – – – (0.8)
At 31 July 2001 71.2 3.2 67.5 315.3 457.2
Owned assets 324.3 8.1 61.4 185.4 579.2
Assets under finance leases – – 1.0 12.1 13.1
Net book amount – 31 July 2001 324.3 8.1 62.4 197.5 592.3
Net book amount – 1 August 2000 293.8 7.5 51.8 178.5 531.6

The costs of tangible fixed assets at 31 July 2001 included £16.4m (2000: £30.9m) in respect of assets in the course of construction.

Freehold land which is included above and amounts to £98.3m (2000: £87.1m) is not depreciated.

11 Investments
Net book

Cost Provisions amount

The group and company £m £m £m

Investment in own shares 0.2 – 0.2

There were 68,130 Wolseley plc shares of 25 pence each held by Wolseley QUEST Ltd at 31 July 2001 (2000: 32,847) 
at recoverable amount.
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Notes to the accounts  
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18 Borrowings falling due after one year
— The group — — The company —

2001 2000 2001 2000

£m £m £m £m

Maturity of borrowings

Due in one to two years 268.0 390.2 258.2 333.8
Due in two to five years 54.2 4.2 52.6 –
Due in over five years 354.8 10.3 348.1 –

677.0 404.7 658.9 333.8

Repayable after five years otherwise than by instalments

US Industrial Revenue Bonds 3.5 6.6 – –
Revolving Credit Facility 348.1 – 348.1 –

Repayable between 1 August 2002 and 31 July 2004 otherwise than by instalments

Revolving credit facility 52.6 133.5 52.6 133.5
Term loan 269.7 247.5 258.2 200.3

Repayable by instalments, any one of which is due for repayment after five years

Other loans 2.9 8.7 – –

Repayable by instalments all of which are due for repayment within five years

Other loans 0.2 8.4 – –
677.0 404.7 658.9 333.8

The revolving credit facility for more than five years is $500m. Other revolving credit facilities total $75m.The term loan is for $368m.

Finance lease obligations included above are secured against the assets concerned.

Other secured loans amounting to £10.5m (2000: £16.5m) are secured against various group assets.

19 Provisions for liabilities and charges
Wolseley Other

Reorganisation Pensions Insurance provisions Total

The group £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 August 2000 (as restated) 0.8 42.3 16.4 11.1 70.6
Utilised in the year (0.5) (16.1) (10.2) (0.7) (27.5)
Charge for the year – 11.0 14.6 14.8 40.4
New businesses – 5.8 – 0.4 6.2
Businesses sold (0.2) (3.2) – (0.9) (4.3)
Exchange differences – (0.6) 0.9 0.1 0.4
At 31 July 2001 0.1 39.2 21.7 24.8 85.8

Wolseley Insurance provisions represent certain accumulated balances on its general business fund in respect of provisions for outstanding
and potential claims based on historical experience.

Other provisions include provisions for property, £7.3m, environmental and legal liabilities, £14.0m and deferred taxation, £1.9m.

At 31 July 2001 the company had provisions of £nil (2000: £nil).
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Year ended 31 July 2001

14 Construction loans
— The group — 

2001 2000

£m £m

Construction loans receivable – secured 215.5 193.0
Borrowings to finance construction loans – unsecured (215.2) (192.1)

0.3 0.9

Construction loans receivable, which are secured principally against homes in the course of construction or completed homes 
awaiting sale, are made to customers of Carolina Holdings Inc.

Included in construction loans receivable is an amount of £12.6m (2000: £4.9m) representing properties held for sale in lieu 
of foreclosed loans.

15 Current asset investments
— The group — 

2001 2000

£m £m

US Life assurance policies 3.7 –
French SICAV, bonds and commercial paper 8.7 6.6
Austrian marketable securities (A3 bonds) 1.9 1.7

14.3 8.3

16 Short term borrowings
— The group — — The company —

2001 2000 2001 2000

Bank loans and overdrafts £m £m £m £m

Unsecured 268.5 180.0 199.3 199.6
Other loans:
Secured 5.5 5.7 – –
Unsecured 0.4 0.4 – –

274.4 186.1 199.3 199.6

17 Creditors: amounts due within one year
— The group — — The company —

2001 2000 2001 2000

Bank loans and overdrafts £m £m £m £m

Trade creditors 725.3 629.7 – –
Bills of exchange payable 84.7 90.3 – –
Amounts owed to group undertakings – – 1,087.1 929.9
Corporation tax 59.8 43.1 – –
Other tax and social security 31.4 27.1 0.3 0.3
Other creditors 112.9 90.1 5.9 5.6
Accruals and deferred income 161.7 125.8 3.1 2.6
Proposed dividend 71.2 64.6 71.2 64.6

1,247.0 1,070.7 1,167.6 1,003.0
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Executive share option schemes
The maximum number of shares over which options may be granted (but excluding any which lapse) under the rules of the executive share
option schemes in any ten year period is 5% of the issued share capital from time to time.The number of shares over which options may
be granted as at 31 July 2001 was 28,815,173 of which 8,211,562 have already been issued pursuant to options exercised on or before
31 July 2001. As at that date the following options were outstanding.

Number of shares
Date of grant under option Price Not exercisable after

March 1992 52,000 203.25 March 2002
November 1992 96,600 220.75 November 2002

October 1993 160,000 350.25 October 2003
November 1994 389,600 388.75 November 2004
November 1995 185,000 440.00 November 2005
November 1995 78,000 433.00 November 2005

March 1996 48,000 460.00 March 2006
Nov/Dec 1996 443,700 456.50 Nov/Dec 2006

December 1997 583,900 483.50 December 2007
November 1998 635,996 381.00 November 2008

October 1999 816,000 397.00 October 2009
October 2000 1,112,200 349.75 October 2010

May 2001 400,000 468.00 May 2011
June 2001 100,000 485.00 June 2011

5,100,996

21 Reserves
Share Profit Minority

premium and loss interests

The group £m £m £m

At 1 August 2000 (as previously reported) 156.7 1,008.5 1.5
Prior year adjustment (see accounting policies on page 43) – 14.3 –

At 1 August 2000 (as restated) 156.7 1,022.8 1.5
Transfer from profit and loss account – 87.7 –
Shares issued* 5.2 (0.1) –
Goodwill written back on disposal (note 24) – 44.4 –
Minorities acquired – – (1.5)
Currency translation differences – 35.6 –
At 31 July 2001 161.9 1,190.4 –

Share Capital Profit and
premium reserve loss

The company £m £m £m

At 1 August 2000 (as previously reported) 156.7 169.3 1,035.7
Prior year adjustment (see accounting policies on page 43) – – 0.2

At 1 August 2000 (as restated) 156.7 169.3 1,035.9
Shares issued* 5.2 – –
Profit for the year – – 30.9
Transfer – (2.7) 2.7
Dividends payable – – (97.4)
At 31 July 2001 161.9 166.6 972.1

As permitted by s230 of the Companies Act 1985 Wolseley plc has not presented its own profit and loss account.
Included in the profit and loss account balance is an amount of £938.9m which may not be distributable.The transfer from Capital
reserve represents the realisation of a merger reserve set up on acquisition of a manufacturing subsidiary which has been disposed of.

* Includes £0.1m transferred from profit and loss account to reserves in respect of shares issued to the Wolseley Employees Qualifying Share Ownership Trust.
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20 Share capital
— Authorised — — Allotted and issued —

2001 2000 2001 2000

Number of ordinary 25p shares (million) 800.0 800.0 576.3 574.8
Nominal value of ordinary 25p shares (million) £200.0 £200.0 £144.1 £143.7

All the allotted and issued shares are fully paid or credited as fully paid.

Allotment of shares
Since 1 August 2000 new ordinary shares of 25 pence each in the company have been issued as follows:

Allotment Number of Price per Value/
date shares share proceeds

£ £m Purpose of issue

Various 206,755 2.51 to 0.6 Exercise of savings related share options
4.09

Various 1,006,126 1.515 to 3.7 Exercise of executive share options
4.835

March 2001 296,432 4.2575 1.3 Allotted to Wolseley Quest Ltd for exercise 
of savings related share options

1,509,313 5.6

All employee share plans
The maximum number of shares over which options may be granted (but excluding any which lapse) under all share option schemes  and
the stock appreciation plan in any ten year period is 10% of the issued share capital from time to time.The number of shares over which
options may be granted under all such schemes as at 31 July 2001 was 57,630,346 of which 13,146,483 have already been issued
pursuant to options exercised in the ten year period ended on 31 July 2001. As at that date the following options were outstanding 
under the various all employee share plans.

Number of Not
shares under exercisable

option Price after

8,021 379.00p September 2001
81,073 275.00p September 2002
23,428 368.00p September 2001
68,078 368.00p September 2003

229,748 409.00p September 2002
73,872 409.00p September 2004

1,789,400 372.00p April 2003
417,700 345.00p September 2003
107,467 345.00p September 2005

1,995,800 324.00p April 2004
124,793 375.00p September 2002
300,870 375.00p September 2004

92,080 375.00p September 2006
2,447,000 348.00p April 2005

666,234 251.00p September 2003
811,160 251.00p September 2005
172,256 251.00p September 2007

2,747,100† 376.00p April 2006
293,684* 336.00p September 2004
390,929* 336.00p September 2006

93,668* 336.00p September 2008
12,934,361

† Granted 9 January 2001

* Granted 12 April 2001
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23 Acquisitions (continued)

The accounting policy adjustments to tangible fixed assets reflect their restatement at depreciated replacement cost with useful lives
determined in accordance with group accounting policies.The book value of stocks has been adjusted to write down slow moving and
obsolete stocks to their estimated net realisable values in accordance with the group accounting policy. In the case of US acquisitions,
adjustments are also made, where appropriate, to restate stock values from LIFO to FIFO.

Adjustments to debtors comprise provisions for bad and doubtful debts in accordance with the group accounting policies.

The fair value adjustments shown above are provisional figures, being the best estimates currently available.

Further adjustments to goodwill may be necessary when additional information is available concerning some of the judgmental areas.

The acquisitions in the year have been listed on page 71.

Consideration Fair Value of
(excluding debt net assets

assumed) acquired Goodwill

Goodwill £m £m £m

European Distribution 51.1 21.4 29.7
North America Plumbing & Heating Distribution 273.6 139.1 134.5
US Building Materials Distribution 73.3 26.1 47.2

398.0 186.6 211.4

At 31 July 2001 deferred consideration outstanding was £10.7m (2000: £10.7m) payable in cash.

The aggregate amount of goodwill written off to reserves since 1 May 1958 £m

North American acquisitions 251.9
French acquisitions 109.1
Austrian acquisitions 67.9
Other acquisitions 89.3
Total 518.2

24 Disposals
Net assets disposed of £m

Tangible fixed assets 12.4
Stocks 16.8
Debtors 22.6
Creditors (7.3)
Provisions (4.0)
Taxation (1.9)
Cash at bank 3.0

41.6
Goodwill previously written off (note 21) 44.4

86.0
Proceeds (16.0)
Net loss on disposal of operations 70.0

The net assets disposed of relate to the sale of the remaining companies in the manufacturing segment, on 2 February 2001.
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22 Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
— The group — — The company —

Restated Restated
2001 2000 2001 2000

£m £m £m £m

Profit for the financial year 185.1 190.8 30.9 406.7
Dividends (97.4) (88.3) (97.4) (88.3)
Currency translation differences 35.6 42.2 – –
New share capital subscribed 5.5 2.0 5.6 2.6
Goodwill written back on disposals 44.4 65.0 – –
Net additions to shareholders’ funds 173.2 211.7 (60.9) 321.0
Opening shareholders’ funds 1,323.2 1,094.5 1,505.6 1,184.4
Prior year adjustment – 17.0 – 0.2
Closing shareholders’ funds 1,496.4 1,323.2 1,444.7 1,505.6

23 Acquisitions

Details of acquisitions made since 1 August 2000, and consideration paid, are shown in the financial review on pages 22 to 27.
The most significant acquisition was that of Westburne which was completed on 1 July 2001 for a consideration of £255.1m.
Provisional goodwill of £123.9m arose on this transaction.The net assets of the businesses acquired during the year, as extracted 
from the vendors’ accounting records, and the fair value adjustments ascribed thereto, are set out below.

Book Accounting Fair
values Property policy values

acquired Revaluation alignments acquired

Westburne £m £m £m £m

Tangible fixed assets 24.8 2.8 (2.5) 25.1
Stocks 116.2 – (13.6) 102.6
Debtors 111.7 – (5.2) 106.5
Creditors (87.2) – (7.2) (94.4)
Taxation (6.1) – 3.9 (2.2)
Borrowings – short term (0.6) – – (0.6)
Provisions (1.7) – (4.1) (5.8)
Total 157.1 2.8 (28.7) 131.2

Prior to acquisition Westburne reported a turnover for the year ended 31 December 2000 of C$1.4 billion and a profit before tax of
C$86m.The profit before tax for the six month period to 30 June 2001 was C$28m. An exercise is currently underway to review the
opening balance sheet in accordance with a timetable agreed with the vendors. Estimated fair value adjustments have been made but
these may be revised once the completion account process is finalised.The completion balance sheet exercise covers all fixed assets,
working capital, provisions and tax.

Book Accounting Fair
values policy values

acquired alignments acquired

Other £m £m £m

Tangible fixed assets 11.6 (1.9) 9.7
Stocks 32.8 (1.8) 31.0
Debtors 41.4 (3.0) 38.4
Creditors (22.5) 0.2 (22.3)
Borrowings – short term (1.0) – (1.0)
Provisions (0.3) (0.1) (0.4)
Total 62.0 (6.6) 55.4
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28 Analysis of cash flows shown net in the cash flow statement
2001 2000

£m £m

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received 30.7 32.1
Interest paid (66.8) (55.5)
Interest element of finance lease rentals (0.8) (0.7)
Net cash outflow for returns on investments and servicing of finance (36.9) (24.1)

Capital expenditure

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (120.8) (125.8)
Receipts from sales of tangible fixed assets 12.0 8.8
Net cash outflow for capital expenditure (108.8) (117.0)

Management of liquid resources

Increase in current asset investments (6.0) (6.1)
Decrease in money market and other deposits – 61.8
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from management of liquid resources (6.0) 55.7

Financing

Issue of ordinary share capital 5.5 2.0
Drawdown of long term borrowings 253.6 194.4
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (5.1) (5.3)
Net cash inflow from financing 254.0 191.1

The group includes in liquid resources all current asset investments and interest-bearing amounts on deposit which are readily disposable
and convertible into cash at values close to book value.

29 Analysis of change in net debt
Acquisitions

and new
finance Exchange

2000 Cash flow leases movement 2001

£m £m £m £m £m

Cash in hand and at bank 101.2 114.4 – (0.3) 215.3
Overdrafts (180.4) (64.9) – (23.6) (268.9)

(79.2) 49.5 – (23.9) (53.6)
Debt due after one year (397.9) (253.6) – (18.2) (669.7)
Finance leases (12.5) 5.1 (4.8) (0.6) (12.8)

(410.4) (248.5) (4.8) (18.8) (682.5)

Current asset investments 8.3 6.0 – – 14.3
Money market and other deposits 27.0 – – 1.1 28.1

35.3 6.0 – 1.1 42.4
Net debt (454.3) (193.0) (4.8) (41.6) (693.7)

30 Related party transactions

There are no related party transactions requiring disclosure under FRS 8 (Related Party Disclosures).

Notes to the accounts  
Year ended 31 July 2001

25 Analysis of the net outflow of cash in respect of the purchase of businesses
2001 2000

£m £m

Purchase consideration (note 23) 398.0 267.1
Net deferred payments 1.0 (2.4)
Cash consideration 399.0 264.7
Cash at bank and in hand acquired _ (11.1)
Bank overdrafts acquired 1.6 32.1

400.6 285.7

26 Analysis of the net inflow of cash in respect of the sale of businesses
2001 2000

£m £m

Disposal proceeds 16.0 94.7
(Cash)/short term borrowings disposed of (3.0) 28.0

13.0 122.7

27 Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from operating activities
2001 2000

£m £m

Operating profit 396.4 373.2
Depreciation (including profit/loss on fixed asset disposals) 85.4 73.9
Goodwill amortisation 17.8 12.5
Decrease/(increase) in stocks 33.1 (75.7)
Increase in debtors (70.1) (19.9)
Increase in creditors and provisions 54.8 26.5
Increase in construction loans receivable (12.5) (20.9)
Increase in construction loans payable 13.1 20.4
Net cash inflow from operating activities 518.0 390.0
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32 Interest rate and currency profile

The current value of interest bearing assets, borrowings and off balance sheet contracts is as follows:
Weighted Weighted

average average
Interest Off balance fixed time for
bearing sheet interest which rate

assets Borrowings contracts Net Floating Fixed Total rate is fixed

Currency £m £m £m £m £m £m £m % Years

Sterling 20.2 (0.5) 156.0 175.7 175.7 – 175.7 – –
US Dollars 50.1 (536.0) (155.7) (641.6) (466.2) (175.4) (641.6) 4.9 1.2
Euros 41.1 (118.1) – (77.0) (62.9) (14.1) (77.0) 3.6 0.5
Other currencies 146.3 (297.1) – (150.8) (150.8) – (150.8) – –
Total 257.7 (951.7) 0.3 (693.7) (504.2) (189.5) (693.7)

The off balance sheet contracts are currency and interest rate swaps as detailed in note 31 to the accounts.

Interest receipts and payments on the floating rate assets and liabilities are determined by reference to short-term benchmark rates
applicable in the relevant currency or market, such as LIBOR.

The group has entered into interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements with the following net effect:

Amount Expiry date Wolseley receives Wolseley pays

FF150m January 2002 6 month Pibor 3.58% to 3.60%
US$75m January 2002 6 month Libor 4.605% to 4.69%
US$75m August 2002 6 month Libor 5.14% to 5.36%

US$100m May 2003 6 month Libor 4.685% to 5.09%
£70m January 2002 5.91% to 5.99% 5.95%

33 Financial instruments

The group held the following categories of financial instruments at 31 July 2001:

Book value Fair value

£m £m

Financial instruments held to fund the group’s operations

Short term borrowings (274.4) (274.4)
Loans and other borrowings payable after one year (677.0) (677.0)
Cash and deposits 243.4 243.4
Construction loans receivable 215.5 215.5
Construction loans payable (215.2) (215.2)
Current asset investments 14.3 14.3

Financial instruments held to manage the group’s interest rate and currency profile
Interest rate swaps – (2.2)
Short term currency swaps 0.3 0.3

For the purpose of the above table the fair values of short term borrowings, cash and deposits, construction loans payable and current
asset investments, approximate to book value due to their short maturities.The loans and other borrowings payable after one year generally
attract variable interest rates based on six month LIBOR.Thus the fair value of these instruments at 31 July 2001 also approximates to
their book value.The fair value of construction loans receivable approximates to book value as the interest rates attaching to these loans
reflect a market risk premium. Sterling cash and deposits are utilised to reduce currency borrowings through the use of short term
currency swaps.
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31 Assets and liabilities by currency
US Other Group

Sterling Dollars Euros currencies total

£m £m £m £m £m

As at 31 July 2001

Intangible fixed assets 140.0 242.8 23.5 68.0 474.3
Tangible fixed assets 133.5 379.6 60.3 19.1 592.5
Stocks 210.5 691.4 138.1 53.8 1,093.8
Debtors 278.6 790.8 213.4 79.2 1,362.0
Construction loans – net – 0.3 – – 0.3
Creditors (273.3) (565.7) (225.5) (51.5) (1,116.0)
Provisions (5.0) (44.5) (30.6) (5.7) (85.8)
Taxation (37.0) (17.4) (4.2) (1.2) (59.8)
Proposed dividend (71.2) – – – (71.2)
Gross assets 376.1 1,477.3 175.0 161.7 2,190.1
(Borrowings)/funds – net
– Short term 20.0 45.6 (76.1) (6.2) (16.7)
– Long term – (531.5) (0.9) (144.6) (677.0)
Net assets 396.1 991.4 98.0 10.9 1,496.4

Exchange rates at 31 July 2001

Balance sheet $1.4252 €1.6289
Profit and loss account $1.4464 €1.6299

US Other Group
Sterling Dollars Euros currencies total

£m £m £m £m £m

As at 31 July 2000 (as restated)

Gross assets 363.3 1,236.3 168.8 10.6 1,779.0
(Borrowings)/funds – net
– Short term 19.0 (44.4) (23.9) (0.3) (49.6)
– Long term – (356.4) (48.3) – (404.7)
Net assets 382.3 835.5 96.6 10.3 1,324.7

Exchange rates at 31 July 2000

Balance sheet $1.4977 €1.6163
Profit and loss account $1.5836 €1.6017

As at 31 July 2001 the group had entered into certain short term currency swaps amounting to $221.9m and £156.0m. Both the dollar
liabilities and the sterling assets are excluded from the above tables.

There are no material foreign currency transactional exposures as, where practicable, group companies use forward exchange contracts 
to hedge transactions that are not denominated in their functional currency.
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34 Pensions and other post retirement benefits (continued)

FRS 17 Retirement benefits
The valuation used for FRS 17 disclosures with respect to the UK scheme has been based on the most recent actuarial valuation 
at 1 May 1998 and updated by the scheme actuary to take account of the requirements of FRS 17 in order to assess the liabilities 
of the scheme at 31 July 2001. Scheme assets are stated at their market value at 31 July 2001. Non-UK schemes have been 
aggregated and weighted averages applied.

The financial assumptions used to calculate scheme liabilities under FRS 17 are: UK Non-UK

Valuation method Projected unit Projected unit

Discount rate 6.00% 6.24%
Inflation rate 2.64% 2.50%
Increase to deferred benefits during deferment 2.75% 3.86%
Increases to pensions in payment 2.75% 3.86%
Salary increases 4.75% 3.43%

– UK – – Non-UK –

Long-term Long-term 
rate of rate of
return Value at return Value at

expected at 31 July expected at 31 July
31 July 2001 2001 31 July 2001 2001

The assets in the schemes and the expected rates of return were: £m £m

Equities 7.00% 164.3 – –
Bonds 5.00% 40.2 – –
Overseas 6.90% 119.5 8.47% 53.5
Other 5.00% 5.2 – –
Total market value of assets 6.69% 329.2 8.47% 53.5
Present value of schemes liabilities (342.1) (101.5)
Deficit in the schemes (12.9) (48.0)
Related deferred tax asset 3.9 14.4
Net pension liability (9.0) (33.6)

The group
2001

Net assets £m

Net assets excluding pension liability 1,496.4
Pension liability (14.1)
Net assets including pension liability 1,482.3

The group
2001

Reserves £m

Profit and loss reserve excluding pension liability 1,190.4
Pension liability (14.1)
Profit and loss reserve 1,176.3

The net pension liability of £42.6m calculated in accordance with FRS 17 compares with the pension provision currently recorded of
£39.2m (note 19) less the related deferred tax asset of £10.7m.
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33 Financial instruments (continued)

To determine the fair value of currency and interest rate swaps for
inclusion in the above table a calculation was made of the net gain
or loss which would have arisen if these contracts had been
terminated on 31 July 2001.

At 31 July 2001 unrecognised gains and losses on forward exchange
contracts taken out as hedges of sales and purchase transactions
were not significant.

The group’s policy in respect of foreign currency and interest risk
management and the related use of financial instruments are set
out in the treasury section of the financial review on pages 22
and 27 and form part of these financial statements.

Short term debtors and creditors arising directly from the group’s
operations are excluded from the above disclosures other than those
relating to assets and liabilities by currency.

34 Pensions and other post retirement benefits

United Kingdom
The principal plan operated for United Kingdom employees is the
Wolseley group Retirement Benefits Plan which provides benefits
based on final pensionable salaries.The assets are held in separate
trustee administered funds.The plan’s retirement benefits are funded
by a contribution from employees of generally 4% of earnings with
the balance being paid by group companies.The contribution rate
is calculated on the Projected Unit method and agreed with
independent consulting actuaries.

An independent actuarial valuation was last carried out on
1 May 1998. On that date the market value of the plan’s assets
was £330.7m.

The market value of the assets was 113% of accrued benefits,
after allowing for increases in earnings and pensions in payment.
The normal cost to the company was 15.3% of pensionable
earnings. Abating the surplus over a period of 10 years gave a net
cost to the company of 9.9% of pensionable earnings.The financial
assumptions used were based on gilt and bond yields as at the
valuation date.The principal actuarial assumptions used were an
investment return of 6% per annum, future salary increases of 5%
or 6% per annum and increases to pensions in payment of 3%
per annum.The total charge to the profit and loss account for 
UK companies was £7.2m (2000: £8.8m).

United States
Both defined benefit and defined contribution plans operate in 
the United States. Assets are held in trustee administered funds
independent of the assets of the companies.

Defined benefit schemes
Defined benefit schemes are operated by three US subsidiaries
and Westburne Canada.Two of the US schemes and the
Canadian scheme are funded. One funded US scheme is closed
to new entrants.The closed scheme now provides a minimum
pension guarantee in conjunction with a defined contribution
scheme.The remaining schemes provide benefits based on final
pensionable salaries.The contribution rates are calculated on
the Projected Unit method as agreed with independent
consulting actuaries.The independent actuaries have reported
on the assets and liabilities of the schemes at 31 July 2001.
The fair value of the assets of the funded schemes amounted 
to £52.2m which represented 80% of the accrued benefits.
The unfunded scheme had estimated liabilities of £6.7m which
are fully provided in these accounts.The principal actuarial
assumptions were based upon investment returns of 7%–9%
and future salary increases of 3%–5%.The obligations are
discounted at 6%–7.75%. Surpluses and deficits revealed by
the valuation are being amortised over the remaining service
lives of the members.The total profit and loss account charge
for the North American schemes was £2.9m (£1.6m).

Defined contribution schemes
Defined contribution schemes are established in accordance
with 401(k) rules. Companies contribute to both employee
compensation deferral and profit sharing plans. Contributions
are charged to the profit and loss account in the period in
which they fall due. In the year to 31 July 2001 the cost of
defined contribution schemes charged to the profit and loss
account was £16.4m (2000: £12.5m).

Other territories
Both defined contribution and defined benefit schemes are operated.
Liabilities arising under defined benefit schemes are generally
calculated in accordance with actuarial advice. Full provision is
made for such liabilities in these accounts. Contributions to defined
contribution schemes are accounted for in the period in which
they fall due.

The cost of other defined contribution and defined benefit schemes
charged to the profit and loss account was £2.5m (2000: £3.1m).

Post retirement health care
There are no material obligations to provide post retirement
health care benefits.

Wolseley 6362 Wolseley



Notes to the accounts  
Year ended 31 July 2001

39 Summary of significant differences between accounting
principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom
and the United States

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United Kingdom (‘UK GAAP’), which differ in
certain significant respects from generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States (‘US GAAP’). Such differences
involve methods for measuring the amounts shown in the 
financial statements, as well as additional disclosures required 
by US GAAP.

A summary of the principal differences applicable to the group
are set out below.

Note 40 provides a reconciliation between profits for the financial
year under UK GAAP and US GAAP and between shareholders’
funds under UK GAAP and US GAAP.

(i) Purchase accounting adjustments
Under UK GAAP the purchase price of a business is assigned first
to the separable tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed on
the basis of their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess
of cost over the fair value of net tangible assets is then allocated
to identifiable intangible assets to the extent that their value 
can be measured reliably on initial recognition, the asset can be
separately disposed of and the asset is controlled through custody
or legal right. Any remaining excess should then be recorded as
goodwill. Under US GAAP, the purchase cost of an investment 
is assigned to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and
liabilities assumed on the basis of their fair values at the date 
of acquisition. Any excess of cost over fair value of net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill.

The purchase accounting differences specifically related to the
group are as follows:

Goodwill
Prior to August 1, 1998, purchased goodwill was written off 
to reserves in the year of acquisition as permitted under UK
GAAP. If a subsidiary or a business is subsequently sold or
closed, previously written off goodwill which was the result of
the initial acquisition is taken into account in determining the
profit or loss on sale or closure. For the purposes of US GAAP,
all goodwill written off against reserves under UK GAAP has
been reinstated as an asset on the balance sheet and is being
amortised using the straight line method over 20 years.

Intangible assets
Under UK GAAP specific criteria apply in recognising
intangible assets. None of the group’s intangible assets meet
these criteria and accordingly intangible assets have not been

separately recorded. Under US GAAP, intangible assets
acquired are recorded at their fair value. Intangible assets 
are comprised of covenants not to compete. Covenants not 
to compete are being amortised over one to six years, with 
the final covenant terminating in fiscal year 2002.

Acquisition adjustments
Under UK GAAP, prior to the implementation of FRS 7,
‘Fair Values in Acquisition Accounting’, in 1995, the
recognition criteria for restructuring provisions were 
less restrictive. Provisions of this nature were treated as 
pre-acquisition and increased the goodwill arising on the
acquisition, which was written off directly to reserves.
Under US GAAP many of these restructuring provisions 
are not permitted.

Loss on disposal
Adjustments made to reconcile UK GAAP and US GAAP 
have an effect on the net assets of businesses disposed of and
accordingly a corresponding impact on the loss on disposal.
These adjustments include the amortised amount of goodwill
previously written-off to reserves. In addition, under US
GAAP, cumulative currency translation adjustments related to
these disposals are included in the loss on disposal calculation.

Contingent purchase consideration
Under UK GAAP contingent purchase consideration is
generally included as part of the purchase cost at the date of
acquisition. Under US GAAP this cost is not recognised until
the contingency is resolved and the amount is determinable.

(ii) Pensions
The group operates defined benefit pension plans in the UK, US,
France, Austria and Luxembourg. The most significant plan is
the Wolseley Group Retirement Benefits Plan in the UK, which
was in a surplus position at the last actuarial valuation.

Under UK GAAP, the cost of providing pension benefits is
expensed over the average expected service lives of eligible
employees in accordance with the provisions of Statement of
Standard Accounting Practice (‘SSAP’) 24, ‘Accounting for
Pension Costs’. SSAP 24 aims to produce an estimate of cost
based on long-term actuarial assumptions. Variations from 
the regular pension cost arising from, for example, experience
deficiencies or surpluses, are charged or credited to the profit 
and loss account over the expected average remaining service
lives of current employees in the schemes.
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35 Capital commitments

At 31 July 2001 authorised capital expenditure which was contracted for but not provided in these accounts amounted 
to £69.7m (2000: £29.4m).

36 Operating lease commitments

Future minimum payments due in the next twelve months under operating lease commitments are as follows:

— Property leases — — Other leases —

2001 2000 2001 2000

Leases which expire within £m £m £m £m

12 months 7.7 5.2 1.2 1.0
13–24 months 10.6 10.2 2.3 2.0
25–36 months 11.0 8.3 3.6 1.6
37–48 months 8.7 5.8 0.5 0.5
49–60 months 7.1 6.3 0.2 0.4
over 60 months 38.3 29.2 0.8 0.8

83.4 65.0 8.6 6.3

37 Contingent liabilities

Wolseley plc and the group have the undermentioned quantifiable contingent liabilities which arose in the ordinary course of business and
which have not been provided in these accounts since no actual liability is expected to rise:

2001 2000

£m £m

Value added tax of certain subsidiary undertakings (all company) 5.9 2.9
Sundry guarantees, performance bonds and indemnities 14.0 10.5
(company £0.9m: 2000: £1.4m)
Guarantees in respect of pension liabilities in Sweden (all company) – 10.0
Obligations under forward foreign exchange contracts 156.0 50.0

In addition Wolseley plc has given its principal UK bank authority to transfer at any time any sum outstanding to its credit against 
or towards satisfaction of the liability to the bank of certain subsidiary undertakings.

As at 31 July 2001 cash deposits of Wolseley Insurance Limited amounting to £22.5m (2000: £16.0m) were charged in favour 
of Lloyds TSB Bank plc to secure a letter of credit provided by that bank.

The company acts as guarantor or surety for various subsidiary undertakings in leasing and other agreements entered into by them in the
normal course of business and it has given indemnities and warranties to the purchasers of businesses from the company and certain group
companies in respect of which no material liabilities are expected to arise. Additionally the company has guaranteed the pension payable
by Brossette BTI to Mr G Pinault.

38 Post balance sheet events

There have been no significant post balance sheet events.
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Under US GAAP, the annual pension cost comprises the estimated
cost of benefits accruing in the period as determined in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (‘SFAS’) 87,
‘Employers Accounting for Pensions’. SFAS 87 requires the use of
the projected unit credit actuarial method for determining defined
benefit pension costs and provides for the deferral of actuarial
gains and losses (in excess of a specified corridor) that result
from changes in assumptions or actual experience. SFAS 132,
‘Employers Disclosure about Pensions and Other Post-Retirement
Benefits’, requires disclosure of the components of net periodic
pension cost and the funded status of the pension plans.

(iii) Deferred taxation
Under UK GAAP, a provision is recorded for deferred taxation
under the incremental liability method, at the expected applicable
rates to the extent that the entity has an obligation to pay more
tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future as a
result of a reversal of those timing differences.This means that
the full potential liability is not necessarily provided. Additionally,
deferred tax assets are recognised only when they are expected 
to be recoverable.

Under US GAAP, deferred taxation is provided for on a full
liability basis. Under the full liability method, deferred tax assets
or liabilities are recognised for differences between the accounting
and taxation basis of assets and liabilities and for tax loss carry
forwards at the statutory rate at each reporting date. A valuation
allowance is established when it is more likely than not that some
portion of all of the deferred tax assets will not be realised.

(iv) Share compensation
The company operates five share option plans: the 1984
Executive Share Option Scheme and the 1989 Executive Share
Option Scheme (collectively, the ‘Executive Option Schemes’);
the Wolseley Employees Savings Related Share Option Scheme
1981 and Wolseley Irish Sharesave Scheme 2000 (collectively,
the ‘Employees Savings Option Schemes’); and the Wolseley
Employees International Stock Appreciation Plan (the ‘SAP’).

Under UK GAAP, none of these option plans are considered to be
compensatory and no compensation expense has been recognised.
Under US GAAP, stock based compensation can be accounted for
based on either (i) the intrinsic value of the stock award on the
date of the grant, following Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion (‘APB’) 25, ‘Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees’;
or (ii) the fair value of the award on the date of grant following 

SFAS 123, ‘Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation’.The group
has elected to use the intrinsic value method of accounting in
accordance with APB 25. Under APB 25, compensation expense
is measured as the difference between the exercise price and the
quoted market price of the stock at the measurement date (the
date when both the exercise price and the number of shares of
stock are known).

Under US GAAP, the Executive Option Schemes are classified as
variable plans since the ultimate compensation costs is unknown
until the performance criteria are met.The SAP is also treated as a
variable plan since the number of shares or cash to be received by
the employees is indeterminate at the date of grant.The Employees
Savings Awards granted under the Executive Option Schemes vest
over a period of three years. Awards granted under the Employee
Savings Option Schemes vest over periods ranging from three to
seven years. Awards granted under the SAP vest over a period 
of five years.

(v) Capitalised interest
Under UK GAAP, the group does not capitalise interest on
specific or general borrowings to finance the construction of
certain tangible fixed assets. Under US GAAP, this interest is
capitalised. The amount of interest capitalised is based on a
weighted average method considering the general borrowings
outstanding during the period.

(vi) Ordinary dividends
Under UK GAAP, ordinary dividends proposed are provided for 
in the year in respect of which they are recommended by the board
of directors although approval of the final dividend will not take
place until the company’s annual general meeting subsequent to
the year-end. Under US GAAP, such dividends are provided for in
the year in which they are declared and approved by the board 
of directors.

(vii) Presentation of earnings per share
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding.
Diluted net income per share is computed by dividing net income
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and potentially
dilutive ordinary shares, which includes the dilutive effect of stock
options. Dilutive potential ordinary shares for all periods presented
are computed utilising the treasury stock method.
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40 Reconciliation between UK and US GAAP

The following is a summary of the material adjustments to consolidated profit for the financial year and consolidated shareholders’
funds that would have been required in applying the significant differences between UK and US GAAP.

2001 2000

Reconciliation of consolidated profit for the financial year Notes £m £m

Profit for the financial year under UK GAAP (as restated) 185.1 190.8
Prior period adjustment – 2.7
Profit for the financial year under UK GAAP (as originally reported) 185.1 193.5

US GAAP adjustments:

Amortisation of goodwill (i) (20.5) (21.5)
Amortisation of intangible assets (i) (2.0) (2.4)
Loss on disposal (i) 21.8 31.9
Pensions (ii) 1.2 (4.9)
Deferred taxation (iii) (3.3) (6.9)
Stock compensation (iv) (7.1) 2.5
Capitalised interest (v) (0.1) 0.7
Taxation effect of US GAAP adjustments (iii) (1.7) (1.0)
Total US GAAP adjustments (11.7) (1.6)
Profit for the financial year under US GAAP 173.4 191.9

Presentation of earnings per share under US GAAP (vii)
Basic earnings per share 30.14p 33.41p
Diluted earnings per share 30.09p 33.38p

Weighted average shares outstanding (millions) 575.3 574.3
Dilutive effect of stock options (millions) 1.0 0.6
Weighted average shares outstanding assuming dilution (millions) 576.3 574.9

2001 2000

Reconciliation of consolidated shareholders’ funds Notes £m £m

Shareholders’ funds under UK GAAP (as restated) 1,496.4 1,323.2
Prior period adjustment – (14.3)
Shareholders’ funds under UK GAAP (as originally reported) 1,496.4 1,308.9

US GAAP adjustments:

Goodwill (i) 411.0 430.2
Intangibles (i) 9.4 9.3
Goodwill amortisation (i) (197.4) (184.3)
Intangible amortisation (i) (7.8) (5.9)
Contingent consideration (i) 10.7 10.7
Pensions (ii) 66.2 68.5
Deferred taxation (iii) (6.7) 13.1
Capitalised interest (v) 2.9 3.0
Ordinary dividends (vi) 71.2 64.6
Taxation effect of US GAAP adjustments (iii) (14.9) (13.2)
Total US GAAP adjustments 344.6 396.0
Shareholders’ funds under US GAAP 1,841.0 1,704.9



Principal subsidiary undertakings and their directors 

European Distribution

UNITED KINGDOM

Wolseley Centers Ltd, Ripon, North Yorkshire, HG4 1SL
(Incorporated and operational in the United Kingdom)
A J Hutton, C A Banks, A Barden, D Bradley, K Evans,
P Gauron, K H D Jones, D E Moody, P W Sheppard,
P G Shewbrook, I Tillotson, R Clay (Secretary)

Services: D Hufton, A Mande, M J Neville

FRANCE

*Brossette SA, 69007 Lyon 
(Incorporated and operational in France)
J R Descours, C A Banks, A Domenget,T Marnez 
C Poulaillon, D A Vilbois

AUSTRIA

*ÖAG Gruppe AG, 1110 Vienna 
(Incorporated and operational in Austria) 
A Hartlieb, J Dutter, A Lassnig, E Pommer, A M Wolff,
A J Hutton, P W Sheppard 

DENMARK

*Electro – Oil International AS, Glostrup
(Incorporated and operational in Denmark)
B Oestergaard, Mrs A Boldt, B J Joergensen,
I Tillotson

IRELAND

*Heatmerchants Ltd, Athlone, Co. Westmeath
(Incorporated and operational in the Republic of Ireland)
M F Lucitt, J Carey, M McCague, M C Ternan,
M O’Brien, C Soden, D Bradley, K H D Jones

HUNGARY

*Mart Kft, Budapest
(Incorporated and operational in Hungary)
W Hatzl, A M Wolff

CZECH REPUBLIC

*Cesaro Spol sro, Prague
(Incorporated and operational in the Czech Republic)
J Rehurek, P Sklenar, A M Wolff

ITALY

*Manzardo SpA, 39100 Bolzano 
(Incorporated and operational in Italy)
C Manzardo, R Bertoni, D A Branson, J R Descours,
P W Sheppard, S P Webster

LUXEMBOURG

*Comptoir des Fers et Métaux SA, L–1882 Luxembourg
(Incorporated and operational in Luxembourg)
J–A Thorn, Y Cheret, H Baraer, D A Vilbois,
D A Branson

North American Plumbing & Heating

USA

*Ferguson Enterprises Inc., Newport News, Virginia 23602
(incorporated and operational in the United States of America)
C A S Hornsby III, C A Banks, J R English, J H Garrett III,
S F Grosslight, M L Grunkemeyer, W S Hargette, S P Mitchell,
F W Roach, D P Strup 

*Familian Northwest Inc., Portland, Oregon 97217
(incorporated and operational in the United States of America)
R C E Johnson, C A Banks, L Burback, C A S Hornsby III 

*Westburne Supply Inc., Plymouth, Minnesota
(incorporated and operational in the United States of America)
C A S Hornsby III, R Adix, C Nichol, S P Mitchell

CANADA

*Westburne Wolseley Canada Inc., Burlington, Ontario
(incorporated and operational in Canada)
P R Lachance, C A Banks, M D Lamontagne,
I Thompson, G Petrin, P Goulet, B Wilcox

*Westburne Industrial Products Group Inc., St.Laurent, Quebec
(incorporated and operational in Canada)
P R Lachance, C A Banks, M D Lamontagne,
R Courteau

US Building Materials Distribution

*Carolina Holdings Inc., Raleigh, North Carolina 27629
(incorporated and operational in the United States of America)
F N Hord, C A Banks, G E Robinette, D W O’Halloran,
W D Rose

Independent auditors’ report to the shareholders of Wolseley plc  

We have audited the financial statements which comprise the
profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the cashflow statement,
the statement of total recognised gains and losses and the related
notes (including the additional disclosures  relating to the
remuneration of the directors specified for our review by the UK
Financial Services Authority) which have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and the accounting policies set out in
the statement of accounting policies.

Respective responsibilities of directors

and auditors

The directors responsibilities for preparing the annual report 
and financial statements in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom law and accounting standards are set out in the
Statement of Directors responsibilities. Our responsibilities,
as independent auditors, are established in the United Kingdom
by statute, the Auditing Practices Board, the Listing Rules 
of the Financial Services Authority and our profession’s 
ethical guidance.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view and are properly prepared in accordance
with the United Kingdom Companies Act. We also report to you if,
in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consistent with the
financial statements, if the company has not kept proper accounting
records, if we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit, or if information specified by law or the
Listing Rules regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions
is not disclosed.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider the implications for our report if we become aware
of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the financial statements.

We review whether the corporate governance statement 
reflects the company’s compliance with the seven provisions of the
Combined Code specified for our review by the UK Financial
Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the board’s statements on internal
control covers all the risks and controls, or to form an opinion on
the effectiveness of the company’s or group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Auditing Standards
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the
directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.
In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of
the presentation of information in the financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the company and the group as at
31 July 2001 and of the profit and cash flows of the group for the
year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

Temple Court
35 Bull Street
Birmingham B4 6JT

25 September 2001
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Acquisitions completed during the year 

Country of 
Name Date incorporation

Atkinsons September 2000 UK
Shawmac November 2000 UK
NRS March 2001 UK
RK Timber May 2001 UK
Sibam November 2000 France
Socomac July 2001 France
Cipacs July 2001 France
Pesco August 2000 USA
Fire Protection Supply September 2000 USA
Sunbelt Marketing January 2001 USA
Red Hed Supply March 2001 USA
Mid Cities (Florida) May 2001 USA
Mid Cities (Texas) May 2001 USA
ATS December 2000 USA
Industrial Sales Company February 2001 USA
Techni-Cal February 2001 USA
Fairfax Lumber August 2000 USA
Barnabo Builders September 2000 USA
Calcasieu Lumber October 2000 USA
Venture Door & Trim January 2001 USA
Virgina Lumber March 2001 USA
General Builders May 2001 USA
Fagens Florida June 2001 USA
Westburne USA June 2001 USA
Westburne Canada June 2001 Canada

All subsidiaries acquired during the year are wholly owned.

Principal subsidiary undertakings 

Service companies

Wolseley – Hughes Ltd
(incorporated and operational in the United Kingdom)

*Wolseley Insurance Ltd
(incorporated and operational in the Isle of Man)

*Wolseley Investments Inc.
(incorporated and operational in the United States of America)

*Wolseley Holdings Canada Inc.
(incorporated and operational in Canada)

Wolseley Overseas Ltd
(incorporated and operational in the United Kingdom)

*Wolseley Holdings (Ireland)
(incorporated in the Republic of Ireland and operational 
in the United Kingdom)

*Wolseley – Hughes Ireland
(incorporated and operational in the Republic of Ireland)

*DAB Investments Sarl
(incorporated and operational in Luxembourg)

*DAB Investments 2 Sarl
(incorporated and operational in Luxembourg)

All subsidiary undertakings have been included in the
consolidation.

Shareholdings in companies marked * are held by intermediate
subsidiary undertakings.

All shareholdings in the above subsidiary undertakings are of
ordinary shares or equity capital, plus the following preference
shares in the case of:

Wolseley Insurance Ltd. 100%

Wolseley Investments Inc. 100%
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Five year summary 

Restated

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Earnings per share before exceptionals 
and goodwill amortisation 47.43p 41.79p 38.08p 32.70p 31.07p
Earnings per share after exceptionals 
and goodwill amortisation 32.17p 33.24p 34.69p 30.80p 31.07p
Dividends, net per share 16.90p 15.35p 13.75p 12.50p 11.40p
Cover for ordinary dividends before exceptionals 2.6 2.6 2.6 2.6 2.7
Gearing ratio (note 1) 46.4% 34.3% 28.2% 4.3% 7.6%
Net tangible assets per ordinary share 177.36p 182.27p 160.03p 167.71p 152.05p

Return on gross capital employed (note 2) 16.5% 16.9% 17.0% 17.5% 17.5%
Average number of employees 34,734 33,385 28,582 25,833 24,955
Aggregate wages and salaries £m 817.2 712.8 605.1 517.0 490.9
Number of shares in issue at year end (m) 576.3 574.8 574.0 573.0 570.0

Number of branches at year end –

European Distribution 1,615 1,443 1,357 1,037 944
North American Plumbing & Heating Distribution 911 591 504 469 437
US Building Materials Distribution 220 210 131 116 96
Total branches 2,746 2,244 1,992 1,622 1,477

US Dollar translation rate

Profit and loss 1.4464 1.5836 1.6360 1.6496 1.6261
Balance sheet 1.4252 1.4977 1.6200 1.6360 1.6375

Euro translation rate

Profit and loss 1.6299 1.6017
Balance sheet 1.6289 1.6163

French Franc translation rate

Profit and loss 10.6914 10.5061 9.6942 9.9326 8.9190
Balance sheet 10.6845 10.6022 9.9287 9.7503 10.1402

Note 1.The gearing ratio is the ratio of net borrowings, excluding construction loan borrowings, to shareholders’ funds.

Note 2. Return on gross capital employed is the ratio of trading profit (before loss on disposal of operations and goodwill amortisation) to the aggregate of average shareholders’

funds, minority interests, net debt and cumulative goodwill written off.

Five year summary 

Restated
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

£m £m £m £m £m

Turnover

European Distribution 2,371.4 2,196.4 1,952.8 1,642.0 1,614.1
North American Plumbing & Heating Distribution 3,000.5 2,551.2 2,142.6 1,900.0 1,759.8
US Building Materials Distribution 1,769.7 1,362.5 1,038.3 801.9 740.1
Manufacturing 53.3 293.3 371.3 415.6 487.9

7,194.9 6,403.4 5,505.0 4,759.5 4,601.9

Trading profit

European Distribution 158.2 145.3 109.3 107.9 98.9
North American Plumbing & Heating Distribution 155.5 135.9 113.6 87.4 88.7
US Building Materials Distribution 96.8 85.5 64.2 47.7 44.3
Manufacturing 3.7 19.0 31.5 34.4 32.5

414.2 385.7 318.6 277.4 264.4
Goodwill amortisation (17.8) (12.5) (5.5) – –
Operating profit 396.4 373.2 313.1 277.4 264.4
Exceptional loss on disposal of operations (70.0) (42.6) (3.1) (5.3) –
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 326.4 330.6 310.0 272.1 264.4
Net interest (payable)/receivable (35.2) (28.3) (3.6) 2.1 (0.2)
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 291.2 302.3 306.4 274.2 264.2
Current tax charge (102.8) (114.4) (107.7) (92.2) (87.2)
Deferred tax charge (3.3) (2.7) – – –
Exceptional tax credit/(charge) – 6.0 0.7 (5.6) –
Profit on ordinary activities after tax 185.1 191.2 199.4 176.4 177.0
Minority interests – (0.4) (0.5) (0.4) (0.4)
Profit accruing to ordinary capital 185.1 190.8 198.9 176.0 176.6
Ordinary dividends (97.4) (88.3) (78.9) (71.7) (65.0)

Net assets employed

Intangible fixed assets 474.3 277.0 179.0 – –
Tangible fixed assets 592.5 531.6 417.0 316.2 295.5
Other net assets, excluding liquid funds 1,123.3 970.4 810.6 686.4 637.0

2,190.1 1,779.0 1,406.6 1,002.6 932.5

Financed by

Share capital 144.1 143.7 143.5 143.2 142.5
Share premium 161.9 156.7 154.3 150.6 144.4
Profit and loss account 1,190.4 1,022.8 796.7 664.5 577.3
Shareholders’ funds 1,496.4 1,323.2 1,094.5 958.3 864.2
Interests of minority shareholders – 1.5 3.1 2.7 2.5
Net debt 693.7 454.3 309.0 41.6 65.8
Net assets employed 2,190.1 1,779.0 1,406.6 1,002.6 932.5

Cumulative goodwill written off 518.2 544.8 597.3 598.7 577.9
Gross capital employed 2,708.3 2,323.0 2,003.9 1,601.3 1,510.4
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Notice of meeting

7. That the company be and hereby is generally and
unconditionally authorised in accordance with Part V of the
Companies Act 1985, to make market purchases (within the
meaning of section 163 of the Companies Act 1985) on the
London Stock Exchange of ordinary shares of 25p each in the
company provided that:

(i) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby
authorised to be purchased is 57,636,530 (10%);

(ii) the minimum price which may be paid for each ordinary
share is 25p exclusive of expenses;

(iii) the maximum price which may be paid for each ordinary
share is, in respect of a share contracted to be purchased
on any day, an amount equal to 105 per cent. of the average
middle market quotations for the ordinary shares of the
company derived from the Daily Official List of the London
Stock Exchange on the 10 business days immediately
preceding the day on which the ordinary share is purchased,
exclusive of expenses;

(iv) the power hereby granted shall expire at the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the company after the
passing of this resolution;

(v) the company may under the authority conferred by this
resolution and prior to the expiry of the authority make 
a contract to purchase its own ordinary shares which will
or may be executed wholly or partly after the expiry of the
authority and may make a purchase of its own ordinary
shares in pursuance of such contract.

By order of the board
Vines Lane D A Branson
Droitwich Spa Secretary
Worcestershire Wolseley plc
WR9 8ND Registered No.29846
14 November 2001 England

Notes
The company, pursuant to Regulation 34 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations

1995, specifies that only those shareholders registered in the register of members of

the company as at 6 pm on 12 December 2001 shall be entitled to attend or vote at

the aforesaid general meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in their

name at that time. Changes to entries on the relevant register of securities after 6pm

on 12 December 2001 shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person

to attend or vote at the meeting.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting convened by the notice set out

above is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote, on a poll, in his place. A proxy

need not be a member of the company. A form of proxy is enclosed with this report.

To be effective it must be deposited at the office of the registrar of the company not

later than 12.05pm on 12 December 2001.

Completion of the proxy does not preclude members from subsequently attending

and voting at the meeting in person if they should so wish.

Copies of directors’ service contracts with the company or with any of its subsidiary

undertakings will be available for inspection at the registered office of the company

during normal business hours (Saturdays and public holidays excepted) and at the

place of the annual general meeting from 11.50am until the conclusion of the meeting.

Notice of meeting

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of
Wolseley plc will be held at the Underwriting Centre, 3 Minster
Court, Mincing Lane, London EC3 7DD on 14 December 2001 
at 12.05pm or immediately following the company’s extraordinary
general meeting to be held at 12 noon on the same day (if later),
for the following purposes:

1. To receive and adopt the accounts and the report of the
directors and the auditors for the year ended 31 July 2001.

2. To receive and adopt the remuneration report.

3. To declare a final dividend.

4. (i) To re-elect the following directors who retire by rotation
in accordance with the articles of association:
Charles A Banks
Jacques R Descours

(ii) To re-elect the following director who is subject 
to annual re-election:
David L Tucker

(iii) To elect the following director who (having been appointed
on 3 May 2001, being since the date of the last annual
general meeting) retires in accordance with the articles of
association and, being eligible, offers himself for election:
Claude A S Hornsby

5. To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the
company and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration,

and as Non-Routine Business to consider and, if thought fit,
pass the following resolutions which will be proposed as
SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS:

6. That the directors be and hereby are empowered pursuant to
section 95 of the Companies Act 1985 to allot equity
securities for cash as if subsection (1) of section 89 of the
Companies Act 1985 did not apply to any such allotment,
provided that:

(i) the power hereby granted shall be limited:

(a) to the allotment of equity securities in connection with
or pursuant to a rights issue in favour of the holders
of shares in the company on the register of members
and other persons entitled to participate (as nearly as
maybe) to such holders’ holding of such shares (or, as
appropriate, to the numbers of shares which such other
persons are for these purposes deemed to hold) on 
any such record date or dates, subject only to such  
arrangements or exclusions as the directors may 
feel necessary or expedient to deal with fractional
entitlements or legal or practical problems under the 
laws of or any other requirements of any regulatory
body or stock exchange in any territory or any other
matter whatsoever; and 

(b) to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to 
sub-paragraph (i) (a) of this proviso) of equity
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount 
of £7,204,500 (5%); and

(ii) the power hereby granted shall expire at the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the company after the
passing of this resolution and in any event no later than
fifteen months after the passing of this resolution.

The power conferred by this resolution shall enable and allow
the directors to make an offer or an agreement before the
expiry of the power which would or might require equity
securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors
may allot equity securities in pursuance of such offer or
agreement as if the authority conferred by this resolution 
had not expired.

Words and expressions defined in or for the purpose of Part IV
of the Companies Act 1985 shall bear the same meaning in
this resolution.
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Group information

Head office and 
registered office

PO Box 18
Vines Lane
Droitwich Spa
Worcestershire WR9 8ND

Telephone: +44 (0) 1905 777200
Fax: +44 (0) 1905 777219
Website: www.wolseley.com

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Corporate brokers

UBS Warburg
Schroder Salomon Smith Barney

Solicitors

Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer

Committees of the board

Audit committee
David L Tucker – Chairman
John M Allan
Richard Ireland

Remuneration committee
John W Whybrow – Chairman
John M Allan
Robert M Walker

Nominations committee
Richard Ireland – Chairman
Robert M Walker
John W Whybrow

Treasury committee
Richard Ireland – Chairman
Charles A Banks
David L Tucker
Stephen P Webster
David A Branson
Michael J R Verrier

Registrars

Lloyds TSB Registrars
The Causeway
Worthing
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Telephone: within the UK: 0870 241 3934
from overseas: +44 121 433 8000

American Depositary Receipts

The Bank of New York
Investor Relations
PO Box 11258
Church Street Station
New York NY 10286 – 1258

Telephone: within the US toll free:
1-800-BNY-ADRS
from overseas: +1 610 312 5315

NYSE specialist firm

Speer Leeds Kellog

Shareholders’ information

There is now a range of shareholder information available on line at www.shareview.co.uk, a website operated by the company’s
registrars.This site provides details of your share holding in the company and practical help on transferring shares or updating your
details. First time users will need to enter certain information and choose a PIN number before they are able to access their
shareholding details.

Financial calendar

Annual general meeting Friday 14 December 2001
Ex-dividend date Wednesday 9 January 2002
Record date Friday 11 January 2002
Last date for new DRIP elections Thursday 17 January 2002
Warrants and counterfoils posted Wednesday 30 January 2002
Dividend payment date Thursday 31 January 2002
Dispatch certificates and statements (DRIP) Wednesday 13 February 2002
Interim announcement date Tuesday 19 March 2002
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